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PART I
ITEM 1 - Business
(a) General Development of Business.
For more than four decades, WD-40 Company (the “Company”), sold only one petroleum-based product, known as WD-40 ®. WD-40 is a multi-purpose product
which acts as a lubricant, rust preventative, penetrant, cleaner and moisture displacer. In December 1995, the Company acquired the 3-IN-ONE ® Oil brand from
affiliates of Reckitt & Colman, P.L.C. 3-IN-ONE Oil is a lower cost general-purpose lubricant that is useful when precise applications of a lubricant are needed.
In April 1999, the Company acquired the Lava ® brand heavy-duty hand cleaner from Block Drug Company, and in October 2000, acquired the Solvol ® brand
heavy-duty hand cleaner from Unilever Australia, Ltd. The four brands complement each other, providing the Company with a line of both lubricant and
heavy-duty hand cleaning products aimed at the Do-It-Yourself (“DIY”), hardware, automotive and other retail and industrial markets. In April 2001, the
Company acquired three additional brands of household cleaning products, 2000 Flushes®, X-14® and Carpet Fresh®. The Company added to its fortress of
brands through the acquisition in May 2002 of the Spot Shot® brand, an aerosol stain remover and a leading brand in the carpet stain remover category. The Spot
Shot brand fits well within the Company’s brand portfolio, alongside the other household product brands. In April 2004, the Company again added to its brands
with its purchase of the 1001 line of carpet and household cleaners from PZ Cussons P.L.C. The 1001 brand provides the Company an opportunity to expand its
household products market in the U.K. with a recognized U.K. brand name.
The acquisition of the 3-IN-ONE Oil brand provided the Company with an existing network of distribution in 17 countries, including several markets in which
the WD-40 brand had not been sold. The Company has been using this distribution network to introduce the WD-40 brand to these markets and to add
distribution channels to markets that have been previously established. This trend has caused a reduction in 3-IN-ONE sales in certain markets as sales of those
products are replaced by sales of WD-40.
The Lava brand is more than 100 years old and is well recognized by U.S. consumers. When the Lava brand was acquired, the Company identified that the Lava
and the WD-40 consumer shared similar characteristics and believed the distribution network developed through the WD-40 brand could effectively promote
growth in the U.S. The Company felt that extending the Lava brand into other products, such as the Lava Heavy Duty hand-cleaning towel, would facilitate the
growth of the brand. The Lava Towel strategy did not deliver on its expectations and was discontinued in 2002. With the Lava acquisition, the Company realized
that it would benefit by an increased position in the grocery channel. This was a catalyst for the Global Household Brands acquisition. In 2004, the Company
developed a plan to innovate the Lava brand in the U.S. This plan involves a line extension under the name Lava Pro, and is expected to launch in the first half of
fiscal year 2005.
On the international front, during the first quarter of fiscal 2001, the Company introduced the Lava brand into the U.K. market. The strategy did not meet the
Company’s expectations and in 2003 it changed its European brand strategy to focus on building distribution of its lubricant brands. In fiscal 2002, the Lava
brand was introduced into the Canadian market. The Company acquired the Solvol brand of heavy-duty hand cleaner in Australia from Unilever Australia, Ltd.
and has extended that brand into a liquid product, a benefit from the technology of the acquisition of Lava which has resulted in the growth of the Solvol brand.
In 2001, the Company acquired the business, brand trademarks, patents and other tangible and intangible assets known as Global Household Brands, which
included the three principal brand trademarks 2000 Flushes and X-14 automatic toilet bowl cleaners, X-14 hard surface cleaners, and Carpet Fresh rug and room
deodorizers. The acquisition was made to move the Company forward in its fortress of brands strategy, while also providing economies of scale in sales,
manufacturing, and administration, and to strengthen the Company’s position in the grocery trade channel. The Global Household Brands’ broker network and
grocery business, combined with the WD-40 Company’s DIY distribution, gives the Company good growth potential for all brands across new trade channels.
In 2002, the Company completed the acquisition of the business, worldwide brand trademarks and other intangible assets of Heartland Corporation. The principal
brand acquired by the Company is the Spot Shot brand, an aerosol carpet stain remover. The acquisition of this brand expands the Company’s product offerings,
and offers potential for leveraging expanded product distribution. The acquisition also included related Spot Shot products and a group of developing brands,
which were subsequently sold to former employees of Heartland.
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In 2004, the Company purchased the 1001 line of carpet and household cleaners. The Company acquired this line of products to gain a presence in the U.K.
market, and to leverage an introduction of the Company’s current Spot Shot and Carpet Fresh formulas through the use of an existing brand currently recognized
by market consumers.
(b) Financial Information About Industry Segments.
The Company’s operating segments are determined consistent with the way management organizes and evaluates financial information internally for making
operating decisions and assessing performance. The Company is organized on the basis of geographical area into the following segments: the Americas, Europe
and Asia-Pacific. In addition, management reviews product performance on the basis of revenue. The financial information required by this item is included in
Note 13 – Business Segments and Foreign Operations, of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, which have been included in ITEM 8, Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.
The Company’s revenue comes from three product categories - multi-purpose lubricants, heavy-duty hand cleaners, and household products. The first two are
marketed primarily through retail chain stores, hardware stores, automotive parts outlets, mass retail and industrial distributors and suppliers, while the household
products are mainly sold in grocery and mass retail.
(c) Narrative Description of Business.
The Company, based in San Diego, California, markets two lubricant brands known as WD-40 and 3-IN-ONE Oil, two heavy-duty hand cleaner brands known as
Lava and Solvol, and six household product brands known as X-14 hard surface cleaners and automatic toilet bowl cleaners, 2000 Flushes automatic toilet bowl
cleaner, Carpet Fresh and No-Vac rug and room deodorizers, Spot Shot aerosol carpet spot stain remover and 1001 carpet and household cleaners.
The Company’s brands are sold in various global locations. Lubricant brands are sold worldwide in markets such as North, Central and South America, Asia,
Australia and the Pacific Rim, Europe, the Middle East, and Africa. Household cleaner brands are currently sold primarily in North America, the U.K., Australia
and the Pacific Rim. Heavy-duty hand cleaner brands are sold primarily in the U.S. and Australia.
WD-40 is sold in aerosol cans and in liquid form through retail chain stores, hardware stores, warehouse club stores, automotive parts outlets, and industrial
distributors and suppliers. It has a wide variety of consumer uses in, for example, household, marine, automotive, construction, repair, sporting goods, and
gardening applications. The product also has numerous industrial applications.
3-IN-ONE Oil is a drip oil lubricant, sold primarily through the same distribution channels as the WD-40 brand. It is a low-cost, entry-level lubricant. The unique
drip tip allows precise application for small mechanisms and assemblies, tool maintenance, and threads on screws and bolts. 3-IN-ONE Oil is the market share
leader among drip oils for household consumers. It also has wide industrial applications in such areas as locksmithing, HVAC, marine, farming, construction, and
jewelry manufacturing. The product’s high quality and the established distribution network that was acquired with the brand have enabled the product to gain
international acceptance. In fiscal 2000, the Company introduced a patented new telescoping spout for 3-IN-ONE that allows precise delivery of oil in tight,
hard-to-reach places. In February of 2003, the Company introduced a line extension of the 3-IN-ONE brand with the introduction of the new 3-IN-ONE Oil
Professional line products, which include a spray and drip penetrant, a white lithium grease spray, a silicone spray, a PTFE spray, a heavy duty cleaner and
degreaser spray, and an engine starter spray. This line has been well received and is expected to be a contributor to the growth of the 3-IN-ONE Oil brand in the
future. This new line was introduced into the U.S. market, and into several countries in the Asia-Pacific and European markets.
The Company purchased the Lava brand of heavy-duty hand cleaner from Block Drug Company in April 1999. The Lava brand is more than 100 years old and
has exceptional awareness among American consumers. At the time of the acquisition, the brand was comprised of two sizes of bar soap and one size of liquid
cleaner. Prior to the Company’s
3
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acquisition, the brand had been sold in a limited number of domestic trade channels, notably supermarkets and drug stores. Because of its heavy-duty
characteristics, the Lava brand has appeal to consumers who shop in other channels such as hardware, automotive and club stores. The Company is developing
distribution in these channels where, with its WD-40 and 3-IN-ONE brands, it has considerable marketing experience. The Company acquired the Solvol brand
in Australia during the first quarter of fiscal year 2001. Solvol, Australia’s leading brand of heavy duty hand cleaner, was sold as a bar soap at the time of
acquisition. In December of 2000, the Company increased the product offering of the brand by adding a liquid cleaner.
The Company acquired the X-14, 2000 Flushes and Carpet Fresh brands with the April 2001 stock purchase of HPD Holdings, Corp. and its wholly-owned
subsidiary, HPD Laboratories, Inc., doing business as Global Household Brands. X-14 is sold as a liquid mildew stain remover, a liquid bathroom soap scum
remover, a liquid daily shower cleaner, an automatic toilet bowl cleaner, and an aerosol all-purpose bathroom cleaner. 2000 Flushes is a pioneering line of
long-duration automatic toilet bowl cleaners. Carpet Fresh initiated the rug deodorizer category upon its introduction in 1978. The Carpet Fresh powder is
sprinkled on carpets and vacuumed up. Carpet Fresh is also sold as an aerosol foam which doesn’t require vacuuming. At the time of the acquisition, the brands
were sold primarily through grocery, drug, and mass retail channels. The Company is expanding the distribution of these items into new channels. At the same
time, the broker network is helping to grow the distribution of the Company’s other brands into the grocery channels.
The Company acquired the Spot Shot brand with the May 2002 stock purchase of Heartland Corporation. The Spot Shot brand is an aerosol carpet spot remover.
At the time of the acquisition, the brand was sold primarily through food and mass retail, club stores, hardware, and home center stores. The Company sees
growth potential for the brand through increased brand awareness, consumer usage, and household penetration, along with the expansion of the brand into new
trade channels. The Company continues to review future international opportunities for Spot Shot.
In April 2004, the Company acquired the 1001 business in a cash purchase from PZ Cussons P.L.C. The 1001 business includes the 1001 brand of carpet and
household cleaners and was acquired with the expectations that the Company will be able to successfully introduce its other household product formulations
under the 1001 brand in order to expand the Company’s household products business into the U.K. market.
The Company owns numerous patents, but relies primarily upon its established trademarks, brand names, and marketing efforts, including advertising and sales
promotion, to compete effectively. The WD-40, 3-IN-ONE, Lava, Solvol, X-14, 2000 Flushes, Carpet Fresh, Spot Shot and 1001 trademarks are registered in
various countries throughout the world.
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. is a significant U.S. mass retail customer and offers a variety of the Company’s products. Sales to U.S. Wal-Mart stores accounted for
approximately 9 percent, 10 percent and 9 percent of the Company’s consolidated net sales during fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Sales to
affiliates of Wal-Mart worldwide accounted for approximately 5 percent during fiscal years 2004 and 2003, and approximately 2 percent during fiscal 2002.
At August 31, 2004 the Company employed 222 people worldwide: 121 by the United States parent corporation, 5 of which are based in the Malaysian regional
office; 10 by the Company’s Canadian subsidiary; 75 by the United Kingdom subsidiary, including 14 in Germany, 10 in France, 6 in Italy and 9 in Spain; 13 by
the Australian subsidiary; and 3 by WD-40 Manufacturing Company, the Company’s manufacturing subsidiary. The majority of the Company’s employees are
engaged in sales and/or marketing activities.
(d) Financial Information About Foreign and Domestic Operations and Export Sales.
The information required by this item is included in Note 13 - Business Segments and Foreign Operations, of the Company’s consolidated financial statements,
which have been included in ITEM 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. The Company is subject to a variety of risks due to its foreign operations,
including currency risk and credit risk. The Company attempts to minimize its exposure to foreign currency exchange fluctuations by the use of forward contracts
on non-functional currency cash balances. With the continuing expansion of the Company’s business in Asia, Latin America, Eastern Europe, the Middle East
and various states in the former Soviet Union, the Company is subject to increased credit risk for product sold to customers in these areas.
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(e) Access to SEC Filings
Interested readers can access the Company’s annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, through the Investor Relations section of
the Company’s website at www.wd40.com. These reports can be accessed free of charge from the Company’s website as soon as reasonably practicable after the
Company electronically files such materials with, or furnishes them to, the Commission. Note that nothing on the Company’s website has been incorporated into
this document.
ITEM 2 - Properties
The Americas
The Company owns and occupies an office and plant facility at 1061 Cudahy Place, San Diego, California 92110. The building consists of approximately 11,000
square feet of office space and 4,000 square feet of plant and storage area. The Company leases an additional 7,200 square feet of office and storage space in San
Diego. The Company leases approximately 6,500 square feet of office space in total for sales offices in each of the following cities: Springfield, New Jersey;
Atlanta, Georgia; Miami, Florida; and Northbrook, Illinois. The Company leases approximately 2,000 square feet of office space in Toronto, Ontario, Canada.
Europe
The Company owns and occupies an office and plant facility at Kiln Farm, Milton Keynes, England. The building consists of approximately 8,000 square feet of
office space and 4,700 square feet of plant and storage area. In addition, the Company leases space for the branch offices in Germany, France, Spain and Italy.
Asia-Pacific
The Company leases approximately 3,500 square feet of office space in Epping, New South Wales, Australia. The Company leases approximately 1,750 square
feet of office space for a sales office in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.
With minor adjustments, the Company believes that these properties should be sufficient to meet its needs for office and plant facilities for the near future.
Increased growth resulting from the recently acquired brands may cause the Company to acquire and/or modify its space in future years.
ITEM 3 - Legal Proceedings
The Company is party to various claims, legal actions and complaints, including product liability litigation, arising in the ordinary course of business. In the
opinion of management, all such matters are adequately covered by insurance or will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or
results of operations, with the possible exception of the legal actions discussed below.
On October 2, 2002, a legal action was filed in the Circuit Court of the 11 th Judicial Circuit for Miami-Dade County, Florida against the Company by Michael
William Granese, a Florida citizen, on behalf of himself and others similarly situated, seeking class action status in the State of Florida for damage claims
allegedly arising out of the use of the automatic toilet bowl cleaners (“ATBCs”) marketed and sold by the Company under the brand names, 2000 Flushes and
X-14.
The plaintiff sought to certify a class of plaintiffs consisting of consumers in the state of Florida who, since September 1, 1998, purchased and used ATBCs sold
by the registrant. Class certification was sought for claims for damages based upon the purchase price of the ATBCs arising out of alleged violations of the
Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (Fla. Stat. §§501.201 – 501.213) for the asserted failure to disclose to consumers that the ATBCs allegedly
could cause harm to internal toilet tank components and for the representations that the ATBCs are safe for plumbing and septic systems.
On April 26, 2004, the Florida Circuit Court issued an order denying the plaintiff’s application for class certification. The plaintiff has filed an appeal, and the
action remains pending with respect to the plaintiff’s individual claims.
5
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Two separate but substantially identical legal actions were filed in September 2003 against the Company in the San Diego County, California and the Alameda
County, California Superior Courts by Patricia Brown on behalf of the general public seeking a remedy for alleged violation of California Business and
Professions Code sections 17200, et seq., and 17500 (the “Brown Actions”). The complaints alleged that the Company misrepresented that its 2000 Flushes
Bleach, 2000 Flushes Blue Plus Bleach and X-14 Anti-Bacterial automatic toilet bowl cleaners (“ATBCs”) are safe for plumbing systems and unlawfully omitted
to advise consumers regarding the allegedly damaging effect the use of the ATBCs has on toilet parts made of plastic and rubber. The complaints sought to
remedy such allegedly wrongful conduct: (i) by enjoining the Company from making the allegedly untrue representations and to require the Company to engage
in a corrective advertising campaign and to order the return, replacement and/or refund of all monies paid for such ATBCs; (ii) by requiring the Company to
identify all consumers who have purchased the ATBCs and to return money as may be ordered by the court; and (iii) by the granting of other equitable relief,
interest, attorneys’ fees and costs. On September 18, 2003, Patricia Brown voluntarily dismissed the Alameda County action and elected to pursue the claims in
San Diego Superior Court. On June 14, 2004, the complaint was amended to reallege violations of the same statutes based on a theory that the ATBCs were
negligently designed; the amended complaint seeks remedies similar to those originally pleaded. The Company’s demurrer to the amended complaint was denied
and the case remains pending.
Another complaint was filed against the Company on September 4, 2003, in the San Diego County, California Superior Court by Genevieve Valentine. This
complaint, filed by the same law firms that filed the Brown Actions, was brought as a nationwide consumer class action on the same or similar grounds as alleged
in the Brown Actions and sought substantially similar relief on behalf of the purported class of similarly situated plaintiffs. An amended complaint was filed by
the plaintiff on June 14, 2004 alleging putative causes of action for unjust enrichment, breach of warranty, negligent design, and negligent inspection or testing of
the ATBCs. As in the pending Brown Action, the Company’s demurrer to the amended complaint was denied. A motion to certify a class action in this case has
not been filed.
The Company intends to vigorously defend against the claims asserted in these legal actions.
On March 11, 2004, Sally S. Hilkene filed a legal action against the registrant’s subsidiary, Heartland Corporation, and Scott H. Hilkene in the District Court of
Johnson County, Kansas. The plaintiff alleges that Heartland Corporation failed to pay rent due to the plaintiff pursuant to certain leases entered into between
Heartland Corporation as Tenant and Scott H. Hilkene and the plaintiff as Landlord. The plaintiff also asserts a claim for conversion against Scott H. Hilkene
with respect to the rent paid by Heartland Corporation to Scott H. Hilkene pursuant to said leases.
On May 28, 2004 separate but substantially identical legal actions were filed by Sally S. Hilkene against the Company and Scott H. Hilkene in the United States
District Court for the District of Kansas and in the District Court of Johnson County, Kansas. The state court action has been stayed pending resolution of the
federal action. The plaintiff asserts claims for damages for alleged fraud in connection with the acquisition of Heartland Corporation by the Company from Scott
H. Hilkene on May 31, 2002. The plaintiff was formerly married to Scott H. Hilkene and, as a result of her contractual interest in Heartland Corporation, the
plaintiff was a party to the Purchase Agreement dated May 3, 2002 and consented to the sale of Heartland Corporation as required by the agreement. The plaintiff
alleges federal and state securities fraud and common law fraud claims against the registrant. All of the allegations relate to actions of the Company, Heartland
Corporation and Scott H. Hilkene during the negotiations for the acquisition and following the closing. The plaintiff alleges that the Company, in breach of an
alleged duty of disclosure, failed to inform her of certain actions that were allegedly undertaken by the parties and that the Company allegedly misrepresented
that certain alleged acts would or would not be undertaken by the parties. The plaintiff also asserts related fraud claims against Scott H. Hilkene.
The Company believes the actions filed by Sally S. Hilkene are without merit and the Company intends to vigorously defend against each of the claims asserted
in the actions.
ITEM 4 - Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
Not applicable.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant
The following table sets forth the names and ages of, and the positions and offices held by, all executive officers within the Company:

Name

Age

Position

Garry O. Ridge

48

President and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Ridge joined the Company’s Australian subsidiary, WD-40 Company
(Australia) Pty. Limited, in 1987 as Managing Director and has held several senior management positions prior to his
election as CEO in 1997.

Michael J. Irwin

41

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Treasurer. Mr. Irwin joined the Company in May 1995 as Director
of U.S. Marketing, and later served as Director of Marketing for The Americas. In April 1998 he was promoted to Vice
President Marketing for The Americas, was named Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer in May
2001, and in September 2002 was named Executive Vice President.

Graham P. Milner

50

Executive Vice President, Global Development and Chief Branding Officer. Mr. Milner joined the Company in 1992 as
International Director, was appointed Vice President, Sales and Marketing, The Americas in March 1997, became Senior
Vice President, The Americas, in April 1998, and was named Executive Vice President, Global Development and Chief
Branding Officer in September of 2002.

Michael L. Freeman

51

Division President, the Americas. Mr. Freeman joined the Company in 1990 as Director of Marketing and was named
Director of Operations in 1994. He became Vice President Administration and Chief Information Officer in December
1996, was promoted to Senior Vice President Operations in September 2001, and was named Division President, the
Americas, in September 2002.

Geoffrey J. Holdsworth

42

Managing Director, WD-40 Company (Australia) Pty. Limited. Mr. Holdsworth joined the Company’s Australian
subsidiary, WD-40 Company (Australia) Pty. Limited, in 1996 as General Manager. Prior to joining WD-40 Company,
Mr. Holdsworth held sales management positions at Columbia Pelikan Pty. Ltd., Australia.

William B. Noble

46

Managing Director, WD-40 Company Ltd. (U.K.). Mr. Noble joined the Company’s Australian subsidiary, WD-40
Company (Australia) Pty. Limited, in 1993 as International Marketing Manager for the Asia Region. He was appointed
Managing Director, Europe in December 1996.

All executive officers hold office at the pleasure of the Board of Directors. In addition, the Company has entered into employment agreements with Mr. Ridge,
Mr. Irwin, Mr. Milner, Mr. Freeman, Mr. Holdsworth, and Mr. Noble for three-year terms. Subject to renewal, Mr. Ridge’s current contract term expires on
August 1, 2005 and the other officers’ contracts were automatically renewed on July 9, 2004 for successive three-year terms.
PART II
ITEM 5 - Market For Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
The Company’s common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market (National Market System). As of August 31, 2004, the approximate number of holders of
record of the Company’s common stock was 1,580. The following table sets forth the range of high and low sales prices on The Nasdaq Stock Market of the
Company’s common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by Nasdaq.
7
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SELECTED STOCK INFORMATION

FISCAL 2004
HIGH

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$
$
$
$

35.98
36.88
35.72
31.25

LOW

$
$
$
$

FISCAL 2003
DIVIDEND

27.21
29.13
29.29
24.55

$
$
$
$

0.20
0.20
0.20
0.20

HIGH

$
$
$
$

29.90
30.00
27.50
30.00

LOW

$
$
$
$

25.60
22.89
19.64
25.22

DIVIDEND

$
$
$
$

0.20
0.20
0.20
0.20

The Company has historically paid regular quarterly cash dividends on its common stock. The Board of Directors of the Company presently intends to continue
the payment of regular quarterly cash dividends on the common stock. The Company’s ability to pay dividends could be affected by future business performance,
liquidity, capital needs, alternative investment opportunities, and loan covenants.
Issuance of Unregistered Securities
As of March 2, 2004, the Company issued a total of 3,204 shares of its common stock to eight of its non-employee directors pursuant to the Company’s
Amended and Restated WD-40 Company 1999 Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Plan (the “Plan”). The shares were issued in lieu of cash compensation
for all or part of each electing director’s annual fee for services as a director. The number of shares issued was determined according to a formula set forth in the
Plan equal to the total compensation to be paid in shares divided by 90% of the closing price of the Company’s shares on the first business day of March 2004. In
lieu of cash compensation in the amount of $99,000, the Company issued shares to directors under the Plan with an aggregate market value of $110,000 as of
March 2, 2004. The issuance of the shares of the Company’s common stock to the directors was exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933 (the
“Act”) pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Act as a transaction by an issuer not involving a public offering. The shares issued to directors are subject to certain
restrictions upon transfer.
Repurchase of Company Securities
On April 6, 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a share buy-back plan. Under the plan, which was in effect for up to twelve months, the Company
was authorized to acquire up to $15.0 million of the Company’s outstanding shares. During the last five months of fiscal year 2004, the Company completed the
repurchase program by acquiring 534,698 shares at a total cost of $15.0 million.
The following table presents the total number of shares repurchased during the last quarter of the fiscal year:

Period

June 1 – June 30
July 1 - July 31
August 1 - August 13
Total

(a) Total
Number of
Shares

(b) Average
Price Paid per

(c) Total Number
of Shares
Purchased as Part
of Publicly
Announced Plans

Purchased

Share

or Programs

40,000
140,000
184,698

$
$
$

30.91
26.21
26.63

40,000
140,000
184,698

364,698

$

26.93

364,698

(d) Maximum
Dollar Value of
Shares that May
Yet Be Purchased
Under the Plans or
Programs

$
$
$

8,578,532
4,902,902
—

Administrative costs, such as commissions and handling fees, related to the stock repurchase program totaled approximately $18,000 in the last quarter of the
fiscal year. If these costs were included in the average price paid per share, the average price would equal $26.99.
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ITEM 6 - Selected Financial Data
The following data has been derived from the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements. The consolidated balance sheets at August 31, 2004 and
2003 and the related consolidated statements of income, of cash flows and of shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income of the Company for the three years
ended August 31, 2004 and notes thereto are included with this report under Item 15. The data should be read in conjunction with such consolidated financial
statements and other financial information appearing elsewhere herein.

Year ended August 31,
2004

2003

2002

2001

2000

Net sales
Cost of product sold

$ 242,467
116,944

$ 238,140
115,928

$ 216,764
108,153

$ 163,748
79,547

$ 146,469
69,414

Gross profit
2
Operating expenses

125,523
80,074

122,212
72,460

108,611
66,245

84,201
56,112

77,055
45,432

(in thousands)
1

Operating income
Interest and other income (expense), net
Loss on early extinguishment of debt

45,449
(6,596)

49,752
(6,357)

42,366
(5,523)
(1,032)3

28,089
(2,508)

31,623
(495)

Income before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change
Provision for income taxes

38,853
13,210

43,395
14,754

35,811
11,135

25,581
8,698

31,128
10,570

Income before cumulative effect of accounting change
Cumulative effect of accounting change

25,643

28,641

24,676

16,883
(980)4

20,558

$ 25,643

$ 28,641

$ 24,676

$ 15,903

$ 20,558

$

1.52

$

1.73

$

1.54

$

1.08
(0.06)4

$

1.33

$

1.52

$

1.73

$

1.54

$

1.02

$

1.33

$

1.50

$

1.71

$

1.53

$

1.08
(0.06)4

$

1.33

$

1.50

$

1.71

$

1.53

$

1.02

$

1.33

Net income
Earnings per share
Basic:
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change
Cumulative effect of accounting change

Diluted:
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change
Cumulative effect of accounting change

Dividends per share
Total assets
5
Long-term obligations
1

2

3

4
5

$
0.80
$ 236,775
$ 81,822

$
0.80
$ 236,658
$ 86,781

$
0.94
$ 215,045
$ 96,605

$
1.18
$ 166,712
$ 76,653

$
1.28
$ 84,950
$ 10,911

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company completed acquisitions of the 1001 business (“1001”), Heartland
Corporation (“Heartland”) and HPD Holdings Corp. (“HPD”) during fiscal 2004, 2002 and fiscal 2001, respectively. Sales of the 1001 brand added $3.2
million in household products sales in fiscal year 2004. Sales of the Spot Shot brand acquired in the Heartland acquisition added $28.4 million, $28.2
million and $7.3 million in household products sales during fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Sales of products acquired in the HPD acquisition
added $46.4 million, $57.4 million, $64.9 million, and $22.1 million in household products sales during fiscal year 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.
At the beginning of fiscal 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 (“SFAS 142”), which governs the
amortization of acquisition-related goodwill and intangibles. As a result, beginning with the first quarter of 2002, the Company is no longer amortizing
acquisition-related goodwill and intangible assets that have been determined to have indefinite lives. In fiscal 2001 and 2000, the Company incurred
amortization costs related to goodwill and intangible assets of $3.7 million and $2.3 million, respectively.
As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 145, Rescission of SFAS Nos. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of SFAS No. 13, and Technical Corrections, in
fiscal year 2003. As a result, the loss on early extinguishment of debt recorded as an extraordinary item during the year ended August 31, 2002, has been
reclassified for comparative presentation and reported in income before taxes.
The first quarter of fiscal year 2001 was affected by a cumulative effect of accounting change which reduced net income by $980,000, net of tax, or $0.06
per share, related to the change in the Company’s revenue recognition policy.
Long-term obligations include long-term debt, deferred employee benefits and other long-term liabilities and long-term deferred tax liabilities, net.
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ITEM 7 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is intended to help the reader understand the WD-40 Company. MD&A is presented in ten
sections: Overview, Summary Statement of Operations, Highlights, Results of Operations, Liquidity and Capital Resources, Critical Accounting Policies,
Transactions with Related Parties, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk, Other Risk Factors and Forward-Looking Statements. MD&A is
provided as a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction with, the Company’s consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes contained
elsewhere in the Company’s Annual Report.
In MD&A, “we,” “our,” “us,” and “the Company” refer to WD-40 Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, unless the context requires otherwise. Amounts
and percents in tables and discussions may not total due to rounding.
OVERVIEW
The Company markets two lubricant brands known as WD-40 and 3-IN-ONE Oil, two heavy-duty hand cleaner brands known as Lava and Solvol, and six
household product brands known as X-14 hard surface cleaners and automatic toilet bowl cleaners, 2000 Flushes automatic toilet bowl cleaner, Carpet Fresh and
No-Vac rug and room deodorizers, Spot Shot aerosol carpet spot stain remover and 1001 carpet and household cleaners. These brands are sold in various global
locations. Lubricant brands are sold worldwide in markets such as North, Central and South America, Asia, Australia and the Pacific Rim, Europe, the Middle
East, and Africa. Household cleaner brands are currently sold in North America, the U.K., Australia and the Pacific Rim. Heavy-duty hand cleaner brands are
sold primarily in the U.S. and Australia.
SUMMARY STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
(dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Year ended August 31,
%
2004

Net sales
Gross profit
Income from operations
Net income
Earnings per common share (diluted)

$
$
$
$
$

242.5
125.5
45.4
25.6
1.50

2003

$
$
$
$
$

238.1
122.2
49.8
28.6
1.71

change

2%
3%
(9)%
(10)%
(12)%

HIGHLIGHTS
•

Sales reflect growth in our Europe and Asia-Pacific segments, with declines in the Americas segment.

•

Changes in foreign currency rates contributed to the growth of our sales as well as growth in expenses. The current year results translated at last
year’s exchange rates would have produced sales of $234.1 million and net income of $25.1 million. Therefore, the impact of the change in foreign
exchange rates year over year positively affected sales and net income by $8.4 million and $0.5 million, respectively. The benefit of increased
exchange rates impacted results in Europe, Australia and Canada.

•

U.S. household products business was disappointing. The Company experienced sales declines in all U.S. household products due to increased
competition within and around the categories we compete in, decreased customer promotional activity, losses in distribution of Carpet Fresh and
X-14, and increased advertising and promotional discounts for automatic toilet bowl cleaners, which are recorded as offsets to sales.

•

The Company instituted a price increase in the U.S. market for certain lubricants and household products during the first quarter of the year. Several
of our key customers responded with decreased promotional activity, which had an adverse impact on sales primarily in the second quarter for
several of our brands, most notably WD-40. The adverse impact that the price increase had on promotional activity subsided in the third and fourth
quarters.

•

The Company completed the acquisition of the 1001 line of products in the U.K. during the third quarter. This brand gives us a presence in the carpet
and household cleaner market in the U.K., and will enable us to leverage an introduction of the Company’s other household product formulations
under the 1001 brand name, as it is a recognized brand by consumers in the U.K. market.

•

Operating expenses were up 11% for the year, primarily due to increased foreign exchange rates year over year, along with increased advertising
and promotional activity, professional services, freight, insurance, and a variety of other items. As planned, the investment in advertising and
promotional activity increased 23% for the year as compared to the prior year to support the long-term health of the Company’s brands.
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•

We increased focus and commitment to innovation during the fiscal year 2004. New product introductions continued as a result of this commitment,
with introductions of the following innovative items during fiscal year 2004: two new 2000 Flushes clip-ons; three new 3-IN-ONE Professional line
products-High-Performance Spray Lubricant with PTFE, Advanced Engine Starter and Heavy-Duty Cleaner Degreaser; new X-14 mildew stain
remover with long-lasting claim; new X-14 Orange aerosol wide-area, all-purpose bathroom cleaner; WD-40 Big Blast; and new Carpet Fresh
fragrance and spray-through cap. Innovation is important to the success of a number of our brands. We intend to continue our commitment to work
on future product, packaging, and promotional innovations.

•

Cash flow has benefited from the exercises of employee common stock options.

•

Principal payment on our debt was made at the end of the third quarter, along with purchases of treasury stock in accordance with the share
buy-back plan in the third and fourth quarters, which completed the share repurchase program.

•

Weighted-average shares outstanding, including the effects of dilution, has increased to 17.1 million for the year compared to 16.8 million in the
prior year, due to exercises of employee stock options and an increase in the Company’s average stock price.

•

Rising costs for various raw materials and components of finished goods have negatively affected gross margin in the current year and can be
expected to continue in the foreseeable future.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Year ended August 31, 2004 compared with the year ended August 31, 2003
Net Sales
Net sales were $242.5 million in fiscal 2004, an increase of 1.8% from net sales of $238.1 million in the prior year. Sales in the Americas segment declined by
$12.4 million, or 6.9%, with Europe sales up by $12.5 million, or 27.6%, and sales in Asia-Pacific up by $4.2 million, or 29.2%. Please refer to the discussion
under “Segment Results” included later in this section for further detailed results by segment. Changes in foreign currency rates compared to the prior fiscal year
contributed to the growth of sales. The current fiscal year results translated at last year’s exchange rates would have produced sales of $234.1 million. Therefore,
the impact of the change in foreign exchange rates year over year positively affected sales by $8.4 million, or 3.6%.
By product line, sales of the lubricants WD-40 and 3-IN-ONE increased $12.9 million or 8.9% on a worldwide basis, with hand cleaner sales of Lava and Solvol
down by $0.9 million, or 11.9%, and sales of the household cleaners Carpet Fresh, No-Vac, X-14, 2000 Flushes, Spot Shot and 1001 down in total by $7.7
million, or 8.9% over the prior year period. Sales of the 1001 line of products contributed $3.2 million to sales in the fiscal year 2004.
Gross Profit
Gross profit was $125.5 million, or 51.8% of sales in fiscal year 2004, compared to $122.2 million, or 51.3% of sales in the prior fiscal year. The 0.5% increase
in gross margin percentage is due to the effect of the U.S. price increase and other supply chain savings, offset by increased advertising and promotional
discounts, the mix of products sold and increased cost of components, raw materials and finished goods. The increase in pricing of certain products in the U.S.
added 1.2% to gross margin percentage compared to the prior year. The overall impact of advertising and promotional discounts on the gross margin percentage,
which include coupon redemptions, consideration and allowances given to retailers for space in their stores, consideration and allowances given to obtain
favorable display positions in retailer’s stores, co-operative advertising and other promotional activity, was 3.7% in fiscal 2004 compared to 3.6% in the prior
fiscal year. Therefore, the increase in advertising and promotional discounts had a negative effect of 0.1% on the gross profit margin percentage. Net changes in
product mix and other supply chain costs resulted in a 0.6% decrease in gross margin percentage. The timing of certain promotional activities and shifts in
product mix may continue to cause significant fluctuations in gross margin from period to period. Although the Company experienced savings of certain supply
chain costs in the first half of fiscal year 2004, our product costs have been adversely affected by the increased cost of components, raw materials and finished
goods. The Company continues to actively manage the general upward trend of costs in the market.
Note that the Company’s gross margins may not be comparable to those of other entities, since some entities include all costs related to distribution of their
products in cost of product sold, whereas we exclude the portion associated with amounts paid to third parties for distribution to our customers from our contract
packagers, and include these costs in selling, general and administrative expenses.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) for fiscal year 2004 increased to $58.3 million from $54.1 million for the prior fiscal year. The increase
in SG&A is attributable to a number of items including: $2.1 million increase related to changes in exchange rates; $1.0 million increase in professional fees,
primarily due to additional legal and accounting related to regulatory compliance; $0.2 million related to increased insurance costs; $0.3 million related to
expenses associated with the 50th anniversary of the Company; $1.0 million net increase in employee costs, including salary increases and additional staffing in
Europe compared to the prior year; $0.9 million increase in freight costs; $0.3 million increase in investor relations activities; and $0.3 million increase in other
items including office overhead expenses; offset by a $1.7 million decrease in bonus costs and a $0.2 million decrease in commissions associated with the decline
in sales to the grocery trade channel. As a percentage of sales, SG&A increased to 24.0% in fiscal year 2004 as compared to 22.7% in fiscal year 2003, primarily
attributable to those items listed above.
As previously mentioned above under “Highlights”, the Company increased focus and commitment to innovation during the fiscal year 2004. However, research
and development expenses decreased from $2.4 million in the prior year to $1.9 million this year as a result of certain events occurring in the last quarter of the
fiscal year. In light of high customer demand, as well as the Company’s own confidence in two new products, further planned research was bypassed, resulting in
the early launch of these products. Research and developments costs were also down due to decisions made in the fourth quarter to terminate the development of
certain ideas late in their cycle and to replace them with projects in an earlier, less costly, development stage. These events reflect the normal cycles of product
research and development. The Company anticipates that research and development costs will return to historical levels in fiscal year 2005.
Advertising and Sales Promotion Expenses
Advertising and sales promotion expenses increased to $21.5 million in fiscal year 2004, up from $17.4 million for the prior fiscal year and, as a percentage of
sales, increased to 8.9% in fiscal 2004, from 7.3% in fiscal year 2003. The increase is mainly related to additional television advertising with increased product
demos, coupon space and print media. As a percentage of sales, advertising and sales promotion expenses may fluctuate period to period based upon the type of
marketing activities employed by the Company, as the cost of certain promotional activities are required to be recorded as reductions to sales, and others remain
in advertising and sales promotion expenses. Investment in global advertising and sales promotional expenses for fiscal year 2005 is expected to be in the range
of 8.5% to 10.5% of net sales.
Loss on Write Off of Non-compete Agreement
The $0.9 million loss on the write off of a non-compete agreement in fiscal year 2003 relates to an agreement with a former independent sales representative.
Due to the death of the party to the agreement in the second quarter of fiscal year 2003, the business to which the agreement relates was not likely to continue.
Accordingly, the remaining $0.9 million book value of this asset was determined to be impaired and was written off during the second quarter of fiscal year 2003.
Amortization Expense
Amortization expense was $0.2 million in fiscal year 2004 compared to $71,000 in the prior fiscal year. The current year expense relates to five months of
amortization of a definite-lived intangible asset over its 8 year life. The asset relates to non-contractual customer relationships acquired in the 1001 acquisition,
which was completed in April 2004. The prior year expense relates to the amortization of the non-compete agreement prior to being written off, as mentioned
above.
Income from Operations
Income from operations was $45.4 million, or 18.7% of sales in fiscal year 2004, compared to $49.8 million, or 20.9% of sales in fiscal year 2003. The decrease
in both income from operations, and income from operations as a percentage of sales, was due to the items discussed above.
Interest Expense, net
Interest expense, net was $6.4 million and $6.7 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The change in interest expense, net is
due to increased interest income as a result of the increase in the Company’s average cash balance during the current year and to reduced principal balance on
long-term borrowings resulting from a $10 million principal payment made in May 2004.
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Other Expense / Income, net
Other expense, net was $0.2 million in fiscal year 2004, compared to other income, net of $0.4 million in the prior fiscal year, due to the effects of foreign
currency exchange losses in fiscal year 2004, compared to gains in fiscal year 2003, due to transaction gains/losses in our European business.
Provision for Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes was 34.0% of taxable income for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2004 and 2003. This reflects an adjustment to the current year
tax rate from the previous 33.5% in the third quarter, associated with a change in the projected annual tax rate due to tax benefits expected from foreign tax
planning in the fourth quarter. The Company was unable to achieve the projected benefits in the current year and is expecting a slightly higher tax rate in fiscal
year 2005.
Net Income
Net income was $25.6 million, or $1.50 per share on a fully diluted basis for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2004, compared to $28.6 million, or $1.71 per share
for the prior fiscal year. Fiscal year 2004 results translated at prior period exchange rates would have produced net income of $25.1 million, thus, the change in
foreign exchange rates year over year positively affected results by $0.5 million, or 2.0%.
Segment Results
Following is a discussion of sales by region for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2004 and 2003.
Americas

Year ended
Net Sales
(in thousands)

Americas
Lubricants
Hand cleaners
Household products
Sub-total
% of consolidated

August 31,

August 31,

2004

2003

$

86,983
5,402
73,757

$

87,091
5,972
85,437

$

166,142
69%

$

178,500
75%

$
change

$

%
change

(108)
(570)
(11,680)

(0)%
(10)%
(14)%

$ (12,358)
(5)%

(7)%

In the Americas region, sales for fiscal year 2004 were down overall by 7% versus the prior fiscal year. Lubricant sales were slightly down; hand cleaner sales
decreased $0.6 million, or 10%; and household products decreased $11.7 million, or 14%.
The Company had an increase in pricing in the U.S. of certain lubricants and household products in the first quarter of fiscal year 2004. The increase was
implemented to help offset increased insurance costs, legal and regulatory costs, freight, cost of goods and the cost of special packaging and logistics required in
order to meet the needs of customers. This price increase added 3.5% to sales in the U.S. during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2004.
The sales of lubricants were essentially flat compared to last fiscal year due to reduced promotional activity by several large customers, which was related to the
price increase instituted by the Company in the first quarter of the fiscal year. The impact of the price increase on promotional activity subsided during the
second half of the year, and the Company does not expect the impact to affect fiscal year 2005 promotional activity.
Household product sales in fiscal year 2004 were down compared to the prior fiscal year due to declines in the U.S., partially offset by growth in Canada. Sales
in the U.S. decreased by $12.8 million, or 15.6%, with growth in Canada of $1.1 million, or 30.5%. The decrease in the U.S. is due to decreased sales of all
brands for several reasons. These reasons include a variety of competitive factors within and among their product categories, including increased advertising and
promotional discounts for automatic toilet bowl cleaners and reduced promotional activity by our customers compared to the prior fiscal year. This category is
expected to remain challenging in fiscal year 2005.
Carpet Fresh and X-14 have experienced declining sales due to a variety of competitive factors. Although sales of the Carpet Fresh brand have declined due to
losses in distribution, the brand has increased dollar share of the grocery segment. Competitive product introductions have affected the sales and market share of
X-14. The Company
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repositioned the X-14 product, highlighting a proven claim that X-14 produces more effective results compared to the leading products in the category. The 2000
Flushes/X-14 automatic toilet bowl cleaners were down for the fiscal year due to intensified new product introductions from competitors into the manual
bowl-cleaning segment. Fees paid to secure new distribution are recorded as offsets to sales, are associated with the launch of the new 2000 Flushes clip-on
products and are expected to continue as the Company gains distribution of these new products. Spot Shot sales in the U.S. were down, as the prior year third
quarter included a customer promotion that was not repeated in fiscal year 2004, as well as increased advertising and promotional activity, and new product
introductions by competitors within the category.
The Company continues to address the challenges and opportunities that exist within the highly competitive U.S. environment for the household products
categories through product and promotional innovation. Recent innovations during fiscal year 2004 included: two new 2000 Flushes clip-on and 2000 Flushes
bleach clip-on, new X-14 mildew stain remover with long-lasting claim, new X-14 Orange aerosol all-purpose bathroom cleaner with wide area sprayer, and new
Carpet Fresh fragrances and spray-through cap. We continue to work on other product, packaging and promotional innovations.
Growth in sales of household products in Canada was due to increased promotional activity for Spot Shot, the impact of translation to U.S. dollars and new
distribution in the year of 2000 Flushes in the grocery trade channel.
Sales of heavy-duty hand cleaners for the Americas decreased to $5.4 million in fiscal year 2004, down from $6.0 million in the prior fiscal year. Distribution of
hand cleaners suffered minor losses in several classes of trade compared to the prior fiscal year. These classes included grocery, hardware and mass merchant. In
fiscal year 2005, the Company intends to implement a strategy to mitigate the effect of the minor losses.
For this region, 88% of the sales in fiscal year 2004 came from the U.S., and 12% came from Canada and Latin America, compared to the distribution in fiscal
2003, when 90% of sales came from the U.S., and 10% came from Canada and Latin America. The change is reflective of the decline of the U.S. household
product sales compared to the prior fiscal year.
Europe

Year ended
Net Sales
(in thousands)

Europe
Lubricants
Hand cleaners
Household products
Sub-total
% of consolidated

August 31,

August 31,

2004

2003

$
change

$

54,455
48
3,200

$

44,830
372
29

$

9,625
(324)
3,171

$

57,703
24%

$

45,231
19%

$ 12,472
5%

%
change

21%
(87)%
10,934%
28%

European sales for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2004 were $57.7 million, up $12.5 million, or 28% over sales in the prior fiscal year. Changes in foreign
currency rates compared to the prior year contributed to the growth of sales. Fiscal year 2004 results translated at last year’s exchange rates would have produced
sales of $51.3 million in this region. Therefore, the change in foreign exchange rates year over year positively affected sales for the fiscal year in this region by
$6.4 million, or 12%. Sales of the 1001 brand contributed $3.2 million to the U.K. region during fiscal year 2004. Increases in sales in U.S. dollars across the
various parts of the region over the prior fiscal year are as follows: the U.K., 53.1%; France, 11.5%; Germany, 32.3%; Spain, 19.8%; Italy, 12.9%; and in the
countries in which the Company sells through local distributors, 14.9%. The principal continental European countries where the Company sells through a direct
sales force, Spain, Italy, France and Germany, together accounted for 38.7% of the region’s sales for fiscal year 2004, compared to 40.6% in the prior fiscal year.
In the long term, the direct sales markets are expected to continue to be important contributors to the region’s growth.
The distributor market results reflected solid growth in the eastern European markets in fiscal year 2004. These markets continued to experience growth in
distribution and usage resulting from increased market penetration and consumer awareness. All of our direct markets, with the exception of France and Italy,
showed growth in the fiscal year. In France, sales were flat in local currency due to declining automotive shelf space at key grocery retailers. In Italy, fiscal year
2004 sales were down in local currency due to the transition of staff in the sales team during the second quarter of fiscal year 2004. The U.K. market benefited
from improved relationships with key customers, the
14

Source: WD 40 CO, 10-K, October 28, 2004

result of the past reorganization of the sales team. In the first quarter of fiscal year 2004, the Company established the legal grounds to go direct in the Dutch
market, where sales were formerly carried through a local distributor. Direct sales to this market began in the second quarter of fiscal year 2004. During the
fourth quarter, the Carpet Fresh and Spot Shot formulas were introduced under the 1001 brand in the U.K. These products performed well in the market, due to
their efficacy, the strength of the 1001 brand and the innovation they bring. The Carpet Fresh No-Vac formula is one of the first of that type in the U.K. market.
Asia-Pacific

Year ended
Net Sales
(in thousands)

August 31,
2004

Asia-Pacific
Lubricants
Hand cleaners
Household products
Sub-total
% of consolidated

August 31,
2003

$
change

$

16,473
1,191
958

$

13,115
1,193
101

$ 3,358
(2)
857

$

18,622
8%

$

14,409
6%

$ 4,213
2%

%
change

26 %
(0)%
849 %
29 %

In the Asia-Pacific region, which includes sales in Australia and across Asia, total sales for fiscal year 2004 were $18.6 million, up $4.2 million, or 29%,
compared to the prior fiscal year. Changes in foreign currency rates compared to the prior fiscal year contributed to the growth of sales. The current fiscal year
results translated at last year’s exchange rates would have produced sales of $17.7 million in this region. Therefore, the change in foreign exchange rates year
over year positively affected sales for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2004 in this region by $0.9 million, or 5%. Australian lubricant sales increased due to the
success of 50th anniversary promotional programs and advertising. In Asia, sales in the region increased slightly over the prior fiscal year, as declines
experienced in the first quarter were made up in the second, third, and fourth quarters. New distributors in Malaysia, Thailand, Taiwan and Singapore have been
successfully transitioned. The launch of No-Vac rug and room deodorizers in Australia and parts of Asia also contributed to growth in sales, as this product
continues to build distribution.
The Company continues to combat counterfeit products, which remain an issue within the Asian region, particularly in China. The Company released a new
shaped WD-40 can into the market in China in the first quarter of fiscal year 2004, and will soon introduce this style of packaging across all of Asia. This unique
packaging is expected to reduce the ability of counterfeiters to imitate the Company’s products.
Year ended August 31, 2003 compared with the year ended August 31, 2002
Net Sales
Net sales were $238.1 million in fiscal year 2003, an increase of 9.9% from net sales of $216.8 million in the prior year. The Company had sales of products
within three primary categories: lubricants, hand cleaners and household products. Lubricants included the WD-40 and 3-IN-ONE brands, hand cleaners included
the Lava and Solvol brands, and the household products category included the Carpet Fresh, 2000 Flushes, X-14, and Spot Shot brands.
The overall increase in sales in fiscal year 2003 compared to fiscal year 2002 was due to an increase in household product and lubricant sales, offset by a
decrease in hand cleaner sales. Household products sales were $85.6 million in fiscal year 2003 compared to $72.2 million in the prior year, an 18.4% increase.
Lubricant sales for fiscal year 2003 were $145.0 million, up 7.9% from $134.4 million in the prior year. Hand cleaner sales were $7.5 million, down by 25.7%
from $10.2 million.
Please refer to the discussion under “Segment Results” included later in this section for further detailed results by segment.
Gross Profit
Gross profit was $122.2 million, or 51.3% of sales in the 2003 fiscal year, compared to $108.6 million, or 50.1% of sales in the 2002 fiscal year. The gross
margin increase of 1.2% was primarily due to the effect of promotional costs and the mix of products sold. The overall impact of promotional costs added 0.2%
to gross margin percentage in fiscal year 2003 compared to fiscal year 2002. Changes in product mix resulted in a 0.8% increase in gross margin percentage. The
write down of Lava towel inventory in the U.K. during fiscal year 2002 decreased fiscal year 2002’s gross margin percentage by 0.2%. The timing of certain
promotional activities and shifts in product mix may continue to cause significant fluctuations in gross margin from period to period.
15

Source: WD 40 CO, 10-K, October 28, 2004

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) for fiscal 2003 increased to $54.1 million from $50.7 million in 2002. The increase in SG&A was
attributable to a number of items. Freight costs increased by $0.6 million, along with commissions of $0.8 million, both associated with the increase in sales.
Professional fees and insurance costs increased by $1.6 million in total, which included a $0.5 million increase in legal fees, $0.6 million in accounting and other
professional fees, and a $0.5 million increase in insurance costs. Professional and legal fees both increased primarily as a result of the new regulatory
environment. The increase in insurance costs for the Company was consistent with the increases experienced by the general market. Corporate insurance costs
were driven up across the board for a variety of economic and political reasons. Research and development increased by $1.0 million and other miscellaneous
costs increased by $0.3 million. These increases were offset by decreases in bad debt expense by $0.3 million and general employee costs by $0.6 million. The
decrease in general employee expenses related to the reallocation of employees to the research and development effort and the creation of “Team Tomorrow”, a
newly developed department in fiscal year 2003 whose focus is on the future of our Company and our brands. The investment in research and development was
up over the prior year due to this reallocation of employees in addition to increased product exploration and direct research and development costs. Bad debt was
down due to reduction in defaults by our customers. As a percentage of sales, SG&A decreased to 22.7% in fiscal year 2003, down 0.7% from 23.4% in fiscal
year 2002. Although costs not directly related to sales, such as legal costs, insurance and professional fees increased over the prior year period, they increased at
a lower rate than sales.
Advertising and Sales Promotion Expenses
Advertising and sales promotion expenses increased to $17.4 million in fiscal year 2003 from $15.2 million in fiscal year 2002, and as a percentage of sales,
increased to 7.3%, up from 7.0%. As a percentage of sales, advertising and sales promotion expense may fluctuate period to period based upon the type of
marketing activities employed by the Company, as the cost of certain promotional activities are required to be recorded as reductions to sales, and others remain
in advertising and sales promotion expense.
Loss on Write Off of Non-compete Agreement
The Company recorded a $0.9 million loss on the write off of a non-compete agreement with a former independent sales representative in fiscal year 2003, as the
business to which the agreement related was not likely to continue. Accordingly, the remaining $0.9 million book value of this asset was determined to be
impaired and was written off during the second quarter of fiscal year 2003.
Amortization Expense
Amortization expense was $0.07 million for the 2003 fiscal year, down from $0.3 million in the prior year. This amortization expense represents the amortization
of a non-compete agreement. The difference relates to the write off of the non-compete agreement in the second quarter of fiscal 2003.
Income from Operations
Income from operations was $49.8 million, or 20.9% of sales for fiscal year 2003, compared to $42.4 million, or 19.5% of sales in the prior fiscal year, an
increase of 17.4%. The increase in both income from operations, and income from operations as a percentage of sales, was due to the items discussed above.
Interest Expense, net
Interest expense, net was $6.7 million and $5.8 million during the years ended August 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The change in interest expense, net was
due to the interest expense incurred as a result of the borrowings associated with the Heartland acquisition.
Loss on Early Extinguishment of Debt
Fiscal year 2002 included a $1.0 million write off of unamortized debt issuance costs associated with the early extinguishment of long-term debt. This expense
was reclassified to other expense from an extraordinary item in accordance with SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of SFAS Nos. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of SFAS
No. 13, and Technical Corrections,” in fiscal year 2003.
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Other Income/Expense, net
Other income, net was $0.4 million in fiscal year 2003 compared to $0.3 million in the prior fiscal year. The increase in other income was primarily due to the
effect of foreign exchange transactions, which produced gains of $127,000 in the fiscal year 2003 compared to losses of $24,000 in the prior fiscal year. The
majority of the foreign exchange transactions are generated in Europe, which records transactions in British pounds but makes sales denominated in Euros and
U.S. dollars as well as the British pound. Miscellaneous other income was $256,000 compared to $292,000 in fiscal years 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Provision for Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes was 34% of taxable income for fiscal 2003, an increase from 31.1% in the prior fiscal year. The fiscal year 2002 tax rate reflects
an overall rate of 32.5%, along with a one time benefit of $0.5 million associated with the resolution of certain tax items. The increase in tax rate to 34% was due
to the growth in worldwide income for fiscal year 2003 at a higher rate than tax credits available.
Net Income
Net income was $28.6 million, or $1.71 per share on a fully diluted basis in fiscal year 2003, versus $24.7 million, or $1.53 per share in fiscal 2002. Net income
in fiscal year 2003 was reduced by $0.035 per share due to the unexpected loss caused by the write off of the non-compete agreement, while net income in fiscal
year 2002 was reduced by $0.044 per share due to the write off of unamortized debt issuance costs associated with the early extinguishment of long-term debt.
Segment Results
Following is a discussion of sales by region for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2003 and 2002.
Americas

Year ended
Net Sales
(in thousands)

Americas
Lubricants
Hand cleaners
Household products
Sub-total
% of consolidated

August 31,
2003

$

87,091
5,972
85,437

$ 178,500
75%

August 31,
2002

$

84,107
8,756
72,234

$ 165,097
76%

$
change

$

%
change

2,984
(2,784)
13,203

4%
(32)%
18 %

$ 13,403
6%

8%

In the Americas region, sales for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2003 increased by 8% over the prior fiscal year. Lubricant sales were up $3.0 million, or 4%;
hand cleaner sales decreased $2.8 million, or 32%; and household products increased $13.2 million, or 18%.
Household product sales in fiscal year 2003 were up compared to the prior year period due to sales from the Spot Shot brand in the U.S. and Canada. The Spot
Shot brand was acquired through acquisition of the Heartland Corporation on May 31, 2002. Excluding Spot Shot, household product sales were down $7.5
million or 11.7% from the prior year. This decrease was due to weakness in the U.S. economy, combined with competitive factors within and among product
categories for shelf space. The uncertainty in the U.S. economy during most of the year influenced the purchasing decisions of retailers who reacted by reducing
inventories and promotional buying. The Company is as much affected by the reactions of its direct customers to changes in the economy, as it is by the
purchasing decisions of end users of its products.
Category shelf space continually expands and contracts with the introduction of new products in both related and unrelated categories. The categories where the
Company’s household product brands compete have experienced competitive pressure from a variety of new product introductions in both related and unrelated
categories. This has resulted in reduced shelf space allocation for the Company’s household product categories as a whole. The automatic toilet bowl category
has experienced these pressures on shelf space from new product introductions in related categories, which have reduced sales and the range of products within
the Company’s category. In spite of the overall category weakness, the Company’s share of category sales has grown. Pressures from related categories have also
had an effect on rug and room deodorizers. Retailers have cut back shelf space for traditional rug and room deodorizers and have reallocated space to other air
care products. As a result, the rug and room deodorizer category as a whole
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has declined. Although sales of the Carpet Fresh brand have declined, the brand has increased market segment share. The X-14 hard surface cleaners have been
affected by competitive product introductions within their categories, as two strong competitors have been introduced into the mildew stain remover category,
which has negatively impacted X-14’s market share within the category.
The increase in lubricant sales in the Americas in fiscal year 2003 was mainly related to growth of WD-40 sales in the U.S. and Canada. The 4% increase in
lubricant sales in the U.S. was due to the benefit in fiscal year 2003 sales from promotions surrounding the Company’s 50 th anniversary, along with the
introduction of the new 3-IN-ONE Oil Professional Line products, which began shipping into the U.S. market towards the end of February of fiscal year 2003.
The Professional Line of products included a spray and drip penetrant, a white lithium grease spray, and a silicone spray. This line has been well received and is
expected to be a contributor to the growth of the 3-IN-ONE Oil brand in the future. The line began shipments to the Asian and Australian markets in the third
quarter of fiscal 2003, and into the UK, Spain and France towards the end of the fiscal year. Lubricant sales in Canada were up 9%, of which 7% was due to the
benefits of foreign exchange and 2% related to accounts specific promotions run for two major customers in the current year. Latin America WD-40 sales were
down 1% from the prior year, due to economic conditions in areas of Latin America.
Sales of heavy-duty hand cleaners for the Americas decreased to $6.0 million in fiscal year 2003, down from $8.8 million in the prior year. The decrease in the
Americas hand cleaner sales was primarily attributable to the U.S. market. The prior year period sales had a special one time promotional program at a large
retailer to gain and support new distribution, which was not duplicated in the current year. Additionally, sales for the Lava liquid did not keep pace with the prior
year due to losses in distribution.
For this region, 90% of sales in fiscal year 2003 came from the U.S., and 10% from Canada and Latin America. This distribution was consistent with that of
fiscal year 2002.
Europe

Year ended
Net Sales
(in thousands)

Europe
Lubricants
Hand cleaners
Household products
Sub-total
% of consolidated

August 31,
2003

August 31,
2002

$
change

%
change

$

44,830
372
29

$

38,406
472
—

$ 6,424
(100)
29

17 %
(21)%
—

$

45,231
19%

$

38,878
18%

$ 6,353
3%

16 %

European sales in fiscal year 2003 were 99% from lubricants, and 1% from hand cleaners, consistent with fiscal year 2002. Fiscal year 2003 sales in Europe grew
to $45.2 million, up $6.4 million, or 16.3% over sales in fiscal year 2002. Favorable exchange rates accounted for 9.5% of the growth, and the other 5.9% was
due to strong performances across the region. Increases in sales in U.S. dollars across the various parts of the region over the prior year were as follows: the U.K.,
0.3%; France, 30.2%; Germany, 33.1%; Spain, 36.1%; Italy, 46.5%; and in the countries in which the Company sells through local distributors, 10.0%. The U.K.
sales were up over the prior year in U.S dollars primarily due to the benefits of foreign exchange rates, as sales in sterling were down from the prior year. The
growth in France, Germany, Spain, and Italy was a result of expanded distribution in all trade channels. Benefits from foreign exchange accounted for 9% of the
growth in distributor markets over fiscal year 2002. The principal continental European countries where the Company sells through a direct sales force, Spain,
Italy, France and Germany, together accounted for 40.6% of the region’s sales for fiscal year 2003, up from 35.3% in the prior year.
The Distributor team produced excellent results in Eastern Europe and the Middle East. Europe Direct markets also experienced growth through fiscal year 2003,
with the exception of the U.K. where sales were affected by poor sales leadership, along with poor Lava results. The Company decided to discontinue its efforts
with the Lava brand in Europe in fiscal year 2003. There was a restructuring of the U.K. sales team, and the brand awareness of the WD-40 brand was
strengthened in the U.K. through the use of a well-known television personality in a marketing campaign.
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Asia-Pacific

Year ended
Net Sales
(in thousands)

Asia-Pacific
Lubricants
Hand cleaners
Household products
Sub-total
% of consolidated

August 31,
2003

August 31,
2002

$
change

%
change

$

13,115
1,193
101

$

11,867
922
—

$ 1,248
271
101

11%
29%
—

$

14,409
6%

$

12,789
6%

$ 1,620
1%

13 %

In the Asia-Pacific region, total sales were up 12.7% in fiscal year 2003 over fiscal year 2002. Asia had a 10.7% increase in sales, up to $10.6 million from $9.6
million in the prior year period, resulting from 8.7% growth of the WD-40 brand. This increase was attributable to growth in China where the Company’s
marketing distributor has worked to gain additional distribution in all markets. The Company continues to combat counterfeit products, which remain an issue
within the Asian market, particularly in China. Australia sales for fiscal year 2003 were up 18.6% over fiscal year 2002, with increases in sales of all brands in
U.S. dollars. Foreign exchange accounted for 15% of the growth in Australian sales over the prior year. Without the benefits of foreign exchange, lubricant sales
were down from the prior year and hand cleaner sales had continued growth. This decrease in lubricant sales was due to the timing of a promotion recorded in
fiscal year 2002’s sales which was not repeated in fiscal year 2003.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
As of August 31, 2004, the Company has a $75 million, 7.28% fixed-rate term loan, and a $10 million balance remaining on an original $20 million, 6.29%
fixed-rate term loan, along with a $10 million revolving line of credit. The $75 million loan matures in 2011, with the first principal payment of $10.7 million
beginning October 18, 2005, and for six years thereafter. The $10 million loan, which was originally $20 million, is payable on May 31, 2005. The first
installment of $10 million was paid in May 2004. In consideration of the balance of cash on hand, and in an effort to reduce fees associated with maintaining an
available line of credit, the Company chose to reduce the availability on its revolving line of credit from $20 million down to $10 million in the first quarter of
fiscal year 2004. The revolving line of credit matures in October 2005, and has no outstanding balance as of August 31, 2004.
Under the fixed-rate term loans and the revolving line of credit, the Company is required to maintain minimum consolidated net worth greater than the sum of
$57 million plus 25% of consolidated net income for each fiscal quarter beginning with the first fiscal quarter of 2002, plus proceeds of all equity securities other
than those issued under the employee stock option plan.
The Company’s cash balance has not been used to prepay the term loans due to certain prepayment penalties under the loan agreements.
A consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio greater than 1.20:1.00 on the last day of any fiscal quarter must be maintained. The Company is also limited to a
maximum ratio of funded debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) of 2.25 to 1.00.
This facility also limits the Company’s ability, without prior approval from the Company’s lenders, to incur additional unsecured indebtedness, sell, lease or
transfer assets, place liens on properties, complete certain acquisitions, mergers or consolidations, enter into guarantee obligations, enter into related party
transactions, and make certain loan advances and investments.
The events of default under the credit facility, including the fixed-rate term loans and the $10 million variable rate revolving line of credit, include the following:
•

Failure to pay principal or interest when due;

•

Failure to comply with covenants, representations or warranties, terms or conditions under the credit agreements;

•

Commencing any proceeding for bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, dissolution or liquidation; and

•

The sale, transfer, abandonment, forfeiture or disposal of the WD-40 trademark or any other trademark used in a material product line.
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The Company is in compliance with all debt covenants as required by the credit facilities.
Aside from the credit facility and the line of credit, the Company’s primary source of funds is cash flow from operations, which is expected to provide sufficient
funds to meet both short and long-term operating needs, as well as future dividends, which are determined on a quarterly basis.
For the fiscal year ended August 31, 2004, cash and cash equivalents decreased by $12.5 million, from $42.0 million at the end of fiscal 2003 to $29.4 million at
August 31, 2004. Operating cash flow of $31.5 million was offset by cash used in investing activities of $13.6 million and cash used in financing activities of
$30.7 million.
Current assets decreased by $11.0 million to $84.2 million at August 31, 2004, down from $95.3 million at August 31, 2003. Accounts receivable decreased to
$40.6 million, down $1.3 million from $41.9 million at August 31, 2003, as a result of decreased sales in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004 compared to the
fourth quarter of fiscal year 2003. Inventory increased to $6.3 million, up by $1.6 million from $4.7 million at August 31, 2003, due to additional inventory in the
U.K. associated with the 1001 product line. Product at contract packagers increased to $2.0 million, up from $1.7 million at August 31, 2003 due to the timing of
shipments of product versus payments received.
Current liabilities decreased by $2.1 million to $42.5 million at August 31, 2004 from $44.7 million at August 31, 2003. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
decreased by $0.8 million due to the timing of payments. Income taxes payable decreased by $0.2 million due to lower income in fiscal year 2004 versus the
prior year. The year-to-date decrease in other current liabilities also includes a $1.2 million decrease in accrued payroll and related expenses, primarily due to a
significant reduction in bonuses accrued at the end of fiscal year 2004 versus the prior year as a result of the Company not achieving its bonus incentive targets.
At August 31, 2004, working capital decreased to $41.7 million, down $8.9 million from $50.6 million at the end of fiscal year 2003. The current ratio at August
31, 2004 is 2.0, slightly down from 2.1 at August 31, 2003.
Net cash provided by operating activities for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2004 was $31.5 million. This amount consisted of $25.6 million from net income
with an additional $8.0 million of adjustments for non-cash items, including depreciation and amortization, deferred tax expense, tax benefits from employee
exercises of stock options, equity earnings from VML Company L.L.C. (“VML”) net of distributions received, stock-based compensation, bad debt expense and
gains/losses on sale of equipment, offset by $2.1 million related to changes in the working capital as described above, and changes in other long-term liabilities.
Net cash used in investing activities for fiscal year 2004 was $13.6 million. This included $11.6 associated with the 1001 acquisition completed in April 2004.
Capital expenditures of $2.4 million were primarily in the area of manufacturing molds and tools, computer hardware and software, and vehicle replacements.
For fiscal year 2004, net cash used in financing activities included $10.0 million for repayment of debt, $13.6 million of dividend payments and $15.0 million
related to purchases of 534,698 shares of common stock held in treasury, all partially offset by $7.9 million in proceeds from the exercise of common stock
options.
On April 6, 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a share buy-back plan. Under the plan, the Company was authorized to acquire up to $15 million
of the Company’s outstanding shares. As of August 13, 2004, the Company had completed its stock repurchase plan. Further disclosures associated with stock
repurchased during fiscal year 2004 are included under Note 5 of the Consolidated Financial Statements and in Part II, Item 2 of this report.
Management believes the Company has access to sufficient capital through the combination of available cash balances, the existing line of credit, and internally
generated funds. Management considers various factors when reviewing liquidity needs, and plans for available cash on hand including: future debt principal and
interest payments, early debt repayment penalties, future capital expenditure requirements, future dividend payments (which are determined on a quarterly basis),
alternative investment opportunities, loan covenants, and any other relevant considerations currently facing the business.
On October 6, 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.20 per share payable on October 29, 2004 to shareholders of record on
October 18, 2004. The Company’s ability to pay dividends could be affected by future business performance, liquidity, capital needs, alternative investment
opportunities, and loan covenants.
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The following schedule summarizes the Company’s contractual obligations and commitments to make future payments as of August 31, 2004:
Payments due by period
Total

1 year

2-3 years

4-5 years

After 5 years

Long-term debt
Operating leases
Interest payments on fixed rate obligations

$ 85,000,000
2,895,000
23,677,000

$ 10,000,000
1,225,000
5,932,000

$ 21,430,000
1,430,000
8,970,000

$ 21,430,000
232,000
5,850,000

$ 32,140,000
8,000
2,925,000

Total Contractual Cash Obligations

$ 111,572,000

$ 17,157,000

$ 31,830,000

$ 27,512,000

$ 35,073,000

Contractual Obligations:

The following summarizes other commercial commitments as of August 31, 2004:
The Company currently has available a $10 million variable rate revolving line of credit, maturing in October 2005. There was no outstanding balance under this
line of credit as of August 31, 2004.
Relationships with Contract Manufacturers
The Company has relationships with various suppliers who manufacture the Company’s products (“Contract Manufacturers”). Although the Company does not
have any definitive minimum purchase obligations included in the contract terms with Contract Manufacturers, supply needs are communicated and the
Company is committed to purchase the products produced based on orders and short-term projections provided to the Contract Manufacturers.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Company’s results of operations and financial condition, as reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial statements, have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions affecting the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Management uses
historical experience and other relevant factors when developing estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated. Note 1
to the Company’s consolidated financial statements includes a discussion of significant accounting policies. The accounting policies discussed below are the ones
management considers critical to an understanding of the Company’s consolidated financial statements because their application places the most significant
demands on our judgment. The Company’s financial results may have been different if different assumptions had been used or other conditions had prevailed.
The Company’s critical accounting policies have been reviewed with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.
Revenue Recognition
Sales are recognized as revenue at the time of delivery when risk of loss and title pass to the customer. Management must make judgments and certain
assumptions in the determination of when delivery occurs. Through an analysis of end of period shipments, the Company determines an average time of transit
that is used to estimate the time of delivery. Differences in judgments or estimates, such as the lengthening or shortening of the estimated delivery time used,
could result in material differences in the amounts or timing of revenue recognition. Sales are recorded net of allowances for damaged goods returns, trade
promotions, coupons and cash discounts.
Accounting for Sales Incentives
The Company records sales incentives as a reduction of sales in its income statement. The Company offers on-going trade promotion programs with customers,
and consumer coupon programs that require the Company to estimate and accrue the expected costs of such programs. Programs include cooperative marketing
programs, shelf price reductions, coupons, rebates, consideration and allowances given to retailers for space in their stores, consideration and allowances given to
obtain favorable display positions in the retailer’s stores and other promotional activity. Costs related to rebates, co-operative advertising, and other promotional
activity are recorded upon delivery of products to customers. Costs related to coupon offers are based upon historical redemption rates and are recorded as
incurred, when coupons are circulated.
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Estimated sales incentives are calculated and recorded at the time related sales are made and are based primarily on historical rates and consideration of recent
promotional activities. We review our assumptions and adjust our reserves quarterly. Our financial statements could be materially impacted if the actual
promotion rates fluctuate from the standard rate.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The preparation of financial statements requires our management to make estimates and assumptions relating to the collectibility of our accounts receivables.
Management specifically analyzes historical bad debts, customer credit worthiness, current economic trends and changes in our customer payment terms when
evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts.
Accounting for Income Taxes
Current income tax expense is the amount of income taxes expected to be payable for the current year. A deferred income tax liability or asset is established for
the expected future tax consequences resulting from the differences in financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is
provided if it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
The Company establishes accruals for certain tax contingencies when, despite the belief that the Company’s tax return positions are fully supported, the
Company believes that certain positions may be challenged and that the Company’s positions may not be fully sustained. The tax contingency accruals are
adjusted in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the progress of tax audits, case law, and emerging legislation. The Company’s tax contingency
accruals are reflected as a component of accrued liabilities.
U.S. income tax expense is provided on remittances of foreign earnings and on unremitted foreign earnings that are not indefinitely reinvested. Where unremitted
foreign earnings are indefinitely reinvested, no provision for federal and state tax expense is made.
Valuation of Long-lived Assets, Intangible Assets and Goodwill
The Company assesses the impairment of identifiable intangibles, long-lived assets and related goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may not be recoverable. For goodwill and intangibles determined to have indefinite lives, impairment is reviewed at least annually under
the guidance of SFAS No. 142, during our second fiscal quarter of each year unless there are indicators during an interim period that assets may have become
impaired. In addition, intangible assets with indefinite lives are evaluated quarterly to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an
indefinite useful life.
Factors we consider important which could trigger an impairment include the following:
•

Significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results;

•

Significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business;

•

Significant negative industry or economic trends;

•

Significant decline in our stock price for a sustained period;

•

Decreased market capitalization relative to net book value;

•

Unanticipated technological change or competitive activities;

•

Loss of key distribution;

•

Loss of key personnel; and

•

Acts by government and courts.

When there is indication that the carrying value of intangibles, long-lived assets or related goodwill may not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or
more of the above indicators, an impairment loss is recognized if the carrying value amount of the asset is not recoverable and its carrying amount exceeds its fair
value.
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
VML was formed in April 2001, at which time the Company acquired a 30% capital and membership interest. The capital interest vests over a five-year period.
Since formation, VML has served as the Company’s contract
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manufacturer for certain household products, and acts as a warehouse distributor for other product lines of the Company. Although VML has begun to expand its
business to other customers, the Company continues to be its largest customer.
The Company has the right to sell its 30% interest in VML to the 70% owner, and the 70% owner also has the right to purchase the Company’s 30% interest.
VML makes profit distributions to the Company and the 70% owner on a discretionary basis in proportion to each party’s respective interest.
The Company’s investment in VML is accounted for using the equity method of accounting, and its equity in VML earnings is recorded as a component of cost
of products sold, as VML acts primarily as a contract manufacturer to the Company. The Company recorded equity earnings related to its investment in VML of
$0.5 million, $0.8 million, and $0.7 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 respectively.
The Company’s maximum exposure to loss as a result of its involvement with VML was $0.9 million as of August 31, 2004. This amount represents the balance
of the Company’s equity investment in VML, which is included in other long-term assets on the Company’s balance sheet. The Company’s investment in VML
as of August 31, 2003 was $0.7 million.
Product purchased from VML was approximately $38.2 million, $42.7 million, and $39.1 million during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The Company had product payables to VML of $1.9 million and $4.7 million at August 31, 2004 and August 31, 2003, respectively. The Company
had formerly guaranteed VML’s $6 million line of credit, however, the guarantee was removed effective May 28, 2004.
ITEM 7A – Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Foreign Currency Risk
The Company is exposed to a variety of risks, including foreign currency fluctuations. In the normal course of its business, the Company employs established
policies and procedures to manage its exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency values and changes in the market value of its investments.
The Company’s objective in managing its exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations is to reduce the impact of adverse fluctuations in earnings and
cash flows associated with foreign currency exchange rate changes. Accordingly, the Company’s U.K. subsidiary utilizes forward contracts to limit its exposure
on converting cash balances maintained in Euros into British sterling. The Company regularly monitors its foreign exchange exposures to ensure the overall
effectiveness of its foreign currency hedge positions. However, there can be no assurance the Company’s foreign currency hedging activities will substantially
offset the impact of fluctuations in currency exchange rates on its results of operations and financial position. While the Company engages in foreign currency
hedging activity to reduce its risk, for accounting purposes, none of the foreign exchange contracts are designated as hedges.
Interest Rate Risk
As of August 31, 2004, the Company has a $75 million, 7.28% fixed-rate term loan, and a $10 million balance remaining on an original $20 million, 6.29%
fixed-rate term loan, along with a $10 million revolving line of credit. Only the $10 million revolving line of credit is subject to interest rate fluctuations, with a
variable interest rate based on the LIBOR rate plus 1.75%. As of August 31, 2004, there was no balance outstanding under the revolving line of credit. The
Company’s interest rate risk on the outstanding line of credit balance is based upon the fluctuation in the LIBOR rate. Any significant increase in the LIBOR rate
could have a material effect on interest expense incurred on any borrowings outstanding on the line of credit.
OTHER RISK FACTORS
Component Supply Risk
The Company depends upon its suppliers for the supply of the primary components for its WD-40 brand and other products. Such components are subject to
significant price volatility beyond the control or influence of the Company. Petroleum products, of which WD-40 and 3-IN-ONE are comprised, have had
significant price volatility in the past, and may in the future. Rising oil prices can also impact the Company’s cost of transporting its products. The Company has
historically been successful in managing its component costs and product pricing to maintain historical gross margins. Additionally, the Company has generally
found alternate sources of constituent chemicals for its
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products readily available. As component and raw material costs are the main contribution to cost of goods sold for all of the Company’s products, any
significant fluctuation in the costs of components could also have a material impact on the gross margins realized on the Company’s products. Specifically, future
can prices are exposed to fluctuation resulting from tariffs on steel; therefore any significant increase or decrease in steel tariffs could have a significant impact
on the costs of purchasing cans and the Company’s cost of goods. In the event there is more significant price volatility or higher component costs generally, the
Company may not be able to maintain, or may choose not to maintain, its gross margins by raising its product prices without affecting demand and unit sales.
Increases in the prices for the components could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results, financial position and cash flows.
Reliance on Supply Chain
The Company’s contract manufacturers rely upon two key vendors for the supply of empty cans used in the production of WD-40, Carpet Fresh, 3-IN-ONE, and
Spot Shot products. Additionally, the Company relies on single manufacturers for the production of 2000 Flushes and X-14 automatic toilet bowl cleaners, X-14
liquid cleaners, Carpet Fresh powder and its Lava bar soap. The loss of any of these suppliers or manufacturers could temporarily disrupt or interrupt the
production of the Company’s products.
The Company does not have direct control over the management or business of the primary contract manufacturers utilized in the manufacturing of the
Company’s products, except indirectly through terms as negotiated in contracts with those manufacturers. Should the terms of doing business with the
Company’s primary contract manufacturers change, the Company’s cost structure may be impacted, which could have a direct impact on the Company’s profit
margins.
Competition
The market for the Company’s products is highly competitive and is expected to be increasingly competitive in the future. The Company’s products compete
both within their own product classes as well as within product distribution channels, competing with many other products for store placement and shelf space.
Competition in international markets varies by country. The Company is aware of many competing products, some of which sell for lower prices; however, the
Company relies on the awareness of its brands among consumers, the value offered by those brands as perceived by consumers, and its unique platform of
multiple distribution channels as its primary competitive strategies.
These considerations as well as increased competition generally could result in price reductions, reduced gross margins, and a loss of market share, any of which
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results, financial position and cash flows. In addition, many of the Company’s
competitors have significantly greater financial, technical, product development, marketing and other resources. There can be no assurance that the Company will
be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors or that competitive pressures faced by the Company will not materially adversely affect its
business, operating results, financial position and cash flows.
Political and Economic Risks
The Company’s domestic and international operations are exposed to the risk of political and economic uncertainties. Changes in political and economic
conditions may affect product cost, availability, distribution, pricing, purchasing, and consumption patterns. While the Company seeks to manage its business in
consideration of these risks, there can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in doing so.
As the Company’s sales extend to various countries around the globe, financial results in affected areas are exposed to a higher degree of risk. Examples of
regions currently exposed to such types of risk include Latin America, the Middle East, and parts of Asia. There can be no assurance that the Company will be
able to successfully mitigate against current and future risk associated with political and economic uncertainties, or that the risks faced by the Company will not
materially adversely affect its business, operating results, financial position and cash flows. As sales grow within various regions around the world, the
Company’s exposure to this risk will increase.
Business Risks
With the trend toward consolidation in the retail marketplace, the Company’s customer base is shifting toward fewer, but larger, customers who purchase in
larger volumes. A large percentage of the Company’s sales are to mass retail customers. Sales to one of these customers accounted for approximately 9% of the
Company’s net sales in fiscal year
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2004. The Spot Shot brand is presently sold to two major customers. Each customer accounts for approximately 20% of total Spot Shot net sales. The loss of, or
reduction in, orders from any of the Company’s most significant customers could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business and its financial
results.
Large customers also seek price reductions, added support, or promotional concessions. In response to this trend, the Company has had to expand its use of
customer and market-specific promotions and allowances, which has negatively impacted and will continue to impact, the Company’s ability to maintain existing
profit margins.
In addition, the Company is subject to changes in customer purchasing patterns. These types of changes may result from changes in the manner in which
customers purchase and manage inventory levels, or display and promote products within their stores. Other potential factors such as customer disputes regarding
shipments, fees, merchandise condition or related matters may also impact operating results.
The Company also faces the risk of diminishing product categories or shifts within these categories. Currently, the Company faces challenges related to its
household product brands. Household products have short differentiated life cycles and often need continuous innovation to address consumers’ changing needs
and tastes. As a result of the dynamic nature of these product categories, the ability to understand consumer preferences and innovate is key to the Company’s
ongoing success. In the event that the Company is unable to meet consumer preferences through innovation, its brands and product offerings may be at risk of
impairment.
Operating Results and Net Earnings May Not Meet Expectations
The Company cannot be sure that its operating results and net earnings will meet its expectations. If the Company’s assumptions and estimates are incorrect or do
not come to fruition, or if the Company does not achieve all of its key goals, then the Company’s actual performance could vary materially from its expectations.
The Company’s operating results and net earnings may be influenced by a number of factors, including the following:
•

The introduction of new products and line extensions by the Company or its competitors;

•

The Company’s ability to control its internal costs and the cost of raw materials;

•

The effectiveness of the Company’s advertising, marketing and promotional programs;

•

Changes in product pricing policies by the Company or its competitors;

•

Changes of accounting policies;

•

The ability of the Company to achieve business plans, including volume growth and pricing plans, despite high levels of competitive activity;

•

The ability to maintain key customer relationships;

•

The ability of major customers and other creditors to meet their obligations as they come due;

•

The ability to successfully manage regulatory, tax and legal matters, including resolution of pending matters within current estimates;

•

The ability of the Company to attract and retain qualified personnel; and

•

Expenses for impairment of goodwill, trademarks and other intangible assets and equity investments in excess of projections.

Regulatory Risks
The Company is subject to numerous environmental laws and regulations that impose various environmental controls on its business operations, including among
other things, the discharge of pollutants into the air and water, the handling, use, treatment, storage and clean-up of solid and hazardous wastes, and the
investigation and remediation of soil and groundwater affected by hazardous substances. Such laws and regulations may otherwise relate to various health and
safety matters that impose burdens upon the Company’s operations. These laws and regulations govern actions that may have adverse environmental effects and
also require compliance with certain practices when handling and disposing of hazardous wastes. These laws and regulations also impose strict, retroactive and
joint and several liability for the costs of, and damages resulting from, cleaning up current sites, past spills, disposals and other releases of hazardous substances.
The Company believes that its expenditures related to environmental matters have not had, and are not currently expected to have, a material adverse effect on its
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. However, the environmental laws under which the Company operates are complicated and often
increasingly more stringent, and may be applied retroactively. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the Company will not be required to make additional
expenditures to remain in or to achieve compliance with environmental laws in the future or that any such additional expenditures will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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Some of the Company’s products have chemical compositions that are controlled by various state, federal and international laws and regulations. The Company
complies with these laws and regulations and seeks to anticipate developments that could impact the Company’s ability to continue to produce and market its
products. The Company invests in research and development to maintain product formulations that comply with such laws and regulations. There can be no
assurance that the Company will not be required to alter the chemical composition of one or more of the Company’s products in such a way that will not have an
adverse effect upon the product’s efficacy or marketability. A delay or other inability of the Company to complete product research and development in response
to any such regulatory requirements could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.
A focus on environmental regulations relating to Volatile Organic Compounds (“VOCs”) resulted in a change in the formulation of the WD-40 product in the
majority of countries where the product is sold, whereby CO2 was chosen as the aerosol propellant in 1996. As a result of this change, the cost of manufacturing
WD-40 was increased and the Company increased its selling prices to partially offset the additional cost. In the event of future increases in product cost, the
Company may not be in a position to raise selling prices, and therefore an increase in costs could have an adverse effect on the Company’s profitability.
VOCs are regulated by the California Air Resources Board (“CARB”). Current CARB regulations required a reformulation of the Companies multi-purpose
lubricants. On November 21, 2002, the Company obtained approval for variance with regulations relating to the VOC content in its multipurpose lubricants from
the CARB. The variance gave the Company an extension of one year to research and develop effective formulas with lower VOC content for its multipurpose
lubricants. The Company has successfully reformulated its multipurpose lubricants to be in full compliance with CARB regulation. The reformulation has
resulted in increased product costs.
In conjunction with the review of the state budget, California gave CARB the approval to enforce a fee-based system which would allow it to collect “fees” from
those it governs on the VOC issues. These fees will go into CARB’s operating budget and help cover shortfalls, and are said to be based on the amount of VOCs
a company’s product puts into the state’s atmosphere. If a similar VOC policy is adopted by other states, the potential impact of fees charged could be material to
the Company.
Generally, the manufacture, packaging, storage, distribution and labeling of the Company’s products and the Company’s business operations all must comply
with extensive federal, state, and foreign laws and regulations. It is possible that the government will increase regulation of the transportation, storage or use of
certain chemicals, to enhance homeland security or protect the environment and that such regulation could negatively impact raw material supply or costs.
Success of Acquisitions
Since 2001, the Company has acquired the household product brands: Spot Shot, 2000 Flushes, X-14, Carpet Fresh, and 1001. The Company believes that its
recent acquisitions provide opportunities for growth for all of the Company’s brands as well as increased efficiencies and cost savings in management, operations
and marketing. However, if the Company is not able to successfully integrate acquired products, the Company may not be able to maximize these opportunities.
Rather, the failure to integrate these acquired businesses because of difficulties in the assimilation of operations and products, the diversion of management’s
attention from other business concerns, the loss of key employees or other factors, could materially adversely affect the Company’s financial results.
One of the Company’s strategies is to increase its sales volumes, earnings and the markets it serves through acquisitions of other businesses in the United States
and internationally. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to identify, acquire, or profitably manage additional companies or operations or that
it will be able to successfully integrate future acquisitions into its operations. In addition, there can be no assurance that companies or operations acquired will be
profitable at their inception or that they will achieve sales levels and profitability that justify the investments made.
Increased Use Of Debt Financing
The Company has historically paid out a large part of its earnings to stockholders in the form of regular quarterly dividends. The recent acquisitions have been
funded to a large extent by new debt. In order to service the new debt,
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the Company will be required to use its income from operations to make interest and principal payments required by the terms of the loan documents. In addition,
the Company is required by covenants within the loan documents to maintain certain financial ratios and compliance with other financial terms. The Company
believes that the increased income from operations derived from the acquired businesses will fully cover the new debt service requirements.
In fiscal years 2001 and 2002, the Company announced reductions to its regular quarterly dividend from $0.32 to $0.27 per share in April 2001 and from $0.27 to
$0.20 per share in July 2002 (reducing the annual dividend since April 2001 from $1.28 to $.80) in order to make more of its cash flow available for debt service
requirements. However, if operating income is not sufficient to properly service the debt or otherwise allow the Company to maintain compliance with the terms
of its loans, the Company could be required to seek additional financing through the issuance of more debt or the sale of equity securities, or the Company might
be required to further reduce dividends. The increased debt service obligations could result in lower earnings for the Company if anticipated gross and net
margins are not maintained for the Company’s new and existing business lines.
Protection of Intellectual Property
The Company relies on trademark, trade secret, patent and copyright laws to protect its intellectual property. The Company cannot be sure that these intellectual
property rights will be successfully asserted in the future or that they will not be invalidated or circumvented. In addition, laws of some of the foreign countries in
which the Company’s products are or may be sold do not protect the Company’s intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States.
The failure of the Company to protect its proprietary information and any successful intellectual property challenges or infringement proceedings against the
Company could make it less competitive and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition.
The Company frequently defends its brands from counterfeits across Asia through legal and enforcement actions. In addition, the Company has introduced
uniquely shaped packaging that the Company believes will reduce the ability of counterfeits to imitate the Company’s products.
Volatility in the Insurance Market
The Company re-evaluates its insurance coverage annually. Trends in the insurance industry suggest that such contracts may be much more expensive, less
protective or even unavailable. In such a case the Company may decide to increase levels of self-insurance, thereby undertaking additional risk.
Product Liability and Other Litigation Risks
The use of the Company’s products may expose the Company to liability claims resulting from such use. The Company maintains product liability insurance that
it believes will be adequate to protect the Company from material loss attributable to such claims but the extent of such loss could exceed available limits of
insurance or could arise out of circumstances under which such insurance coverage would be unavailable. Other business activities of the Company may also
expose the Company to litigation risks, including risks that may not be covered by insurance. If successful claims are asserted by third parties against the
Company for uninsured liabilities or liabilities in excess of applicable insured limits of coverage, the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations may be adversely affected.
Marketing Distributor Relationships
The Company distributes its products throughout the world in one of two ways: the Direct Distribution model, where products are sold directly by the Company
to wholesalers and retailers in the U.S., U.K., Canada, Australia and a number of other countries, and the Marketing Distributor model, where products are sold
to exclusive marketing distributors who in turn sell to wholesalers and retailers. A marketing distributor represents the Company in its particular market and
works with the Company to develop and implement plans to increase brand awareness and distribution.
In many countries throughout the world, the Marketing Distributor model provides the Company with a representative who has extensive local market
knowledge. The Company relies on the efforts and knowledge of its marketing distributors to successfully achieve the optimal level of penetration for its brands
in each market. From time to time, the Company has experienced changes with respect to its marketing distributor relationships. There is a risk that changes in
such marketing distributor relationships that are not managed successfully could result in a disruption in one or more of the affected markets and that such
disruption could have an adverse material effect on the Company’s business, operating results, financial position and cash flows.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a “safe harbor” for certain forward-looking statements. This report contains forward-looking
statements, which reflect the Company’s current views with respect to future events and financial performance.
These forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties. The words “aim,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate” and
other expressions that indicate future events and trends identify forward-looking statements.
Actual future results and trends may differ materially from historical results or those anticipated depending upon factors including, but not limited to, the near
term growth expectations for heavy-duty hand cleaners and household products in the Americas, the impact of changes in product distribution, competition for
shelf space, plans for product and promotional innovation, the impact of 3-IN-ONE professional on the growth of the 3-IN-ONE brand, the impact of customer
mix and raw material costs on gross margins, the impact of promotions on sales, the rate of sales growth in the Asia-Pacific region, direct European countries and
Eastern Europe, the expected gross profit margin, the expected amount of future advertising and promotional expenses, the effect of future income tax provisions
and expected tax rates, the amount of future capital expenditures, foreign exchange rates and fluctuations in those rates, the effects of, and changes in, worldwide
economic conditions, and legal proceedings.
Readers also should be aware that while the Company does, from time to time, communicate with securities analysts, it is against the Company’s policy to
disclose to them any material non-public information or other confidential commercial information. Accordingly, shareholders should not assume that the
Company agrees with any statement or report issued by any analyst irrespective of the content of the statement or report. Further, the Company has a policy
against confirming financial forecasts or projections issued by others. Accordingly, to the extent that reports issued by securities analysts contain any projections,
forecasts or opinions, such reports are not the responsibility of the Company.
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ITEM 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The Company’s consolidated financial statements at August 31, 2004 and 2003 and for each of the three years in the period ended August 31, 2004, and the
Report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K on pages i through
xxvii.
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
The following table sets forth certain unaudited quarterly consolidated financial information for each of the two years in the period ending August 31, 2004.
Amounts are presented in thousands, except for earnings per share data.

QUARTER ENDED:

November 30, 2002
February 28, 2003
May 31, 2003
August 31, 2003

$

November 30, 2003
February 28, 2004
May 31, 2004
August 31, 2004

NET

GROSS

NET

DILUTED
EARNINGS

SALES

PROFIT

INCOME

PER SHARE

51,353
58,345
55,064
73,378

$

25,390
30,843
27,904
38,075

$

4,354
8,203
5,809
10,275

$

0.26
0.49
0.35
0.61

$ 238,140

$

122,212

$

28,641

$

1.71

$

52,540
58,481
59,742
71,704

$

27,934
30,329
30,864
36,396

$

4,390
6,243
6,072
8,938

$

0.26
0.36
0.35
0.53

$ 242,467

$

125,523

$

25,643

$

1.50

ITEM 9 – Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.
ITEM 9A – Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. The term “ disclosure controls and procedures” is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”). These rules refer to the controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
required time periods. The Company’s chief executive officer and chief financial officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures as of August 31, 2004, the end of the period covered by this report (the “Evaluation Date”), and they have concluded that, as of the Evaluation
Date, such controls and procedures were effective at ensuring that required information will be disclosed on a timely basis in the Company’s reports filed under
the Exchange Act. Although management believes the Company’s existing disclosure controls and procedures are adequate to enable the Company to comply
with its disclosure obligations, management continues to review and update such controls and procedures. The Company has a disclosure committee, which
consists of certain members of the Company’s senior management.
(b) Changes in internal control over financial reporting. The Company has a process designed to maintain internal control over financial reporting to
provide reasonable assurance that its books and records accurately reflect its transactions and that its established policies and procedures are carefully followed.
For the quarter ended August 31, 2004, there were no significant changes to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that materially affected, or
would be reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B – Other Information
Not applicable.
PART III
ITEM 10 - Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
Certain information required by this item is set forth under the captions “Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers,” “Nominees for Election as
Directors,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” “Audit Committee” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance” in the Company’s Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the 2004 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, December 14, 2004 (the “Proxy Statement”), which information is incorporated by reference herein.
The registrant has a financial reporting code of ethics applicable to its principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or
controller, and persons performing similar functions. A copy of the code of ethics applicable to such persons is attached as Exhibit 14 to this annual report.
ITEM 11 - Executive Compensation
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the headings “Executive Compensation,” “Compensation
Committee Report on Executive Compensation” and “Stock Performance Graph.”
ITEM 12 - Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
Certain information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the headings “Principal Security Holders” and “Security
Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers.”
The following table provides information regarding shares of the Company’s common stock authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans as of
August 31, 2004:
Equity Compensation Plan Information

Plan category

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders
Total

1

Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options, warrants
and rights

Weighted-average exercise
price of outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Number of securities
remaining available for future
issuance under equity
compensation plans
(excluding securities reflected
in column ( a ))

(a)

(b)

(c)

1,269,920

$

n/a
1,269,920

$

25.57

1,740,8921

n/a

n/a

25.57

1,740,892

Includes 29,316 shares available pursuant to the Company’s Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Plan.

Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Plan
On October 28, 2003, the Board of Directors adopted the Third Amended and Restated WD-40 Company 1999 Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Plan.
The plan was approved by the Company’s shareholders at the annual meeting of stockholders held on December 16, 2003. Pursuant to the plan and the current
director compensation policy, shares
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are issued to non-employee directors of the Company in lieu of cash compensation of up to $23,000 according to an election to be made by the director as of the
October meeting of the Board of Directors. A director who holds shares of the Company having a value of at least $50,000 may elect to receive his or her entire
annual director’s fee in cash. Otherwise, directors must elect to receive restricted stock in lieu of cash in the amount of $5,500, $11,000, $16,500 or $23,000. The
restricted shares are to be issued in accordance with a director’s election as soon as practicable after the first day of March. The number of shares to be issued is
equal to the amount of compensation to be paid in shares divided by 90% of the closing price of the Company’s shares as of the first business day of March.
Restricted shares issued to a director do not become vested for resale for a period of five years or until the director’s retirement from the Board following the
director’s 65th birthday. Unless a director has reached age 65, the shares are subject to forfeiture if, during the five year vesting period, the director resigns from
service as a director.
ITEM 13 - Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
Not Applicable.
ITEM 14 – Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the heading “Ratification of Independent Accountants.”
PART IV
ITEM 15 – Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule

Page

(a)

Documents filed as part of this report

(1)

Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets at August 31,
2004 and 2003
Consolidated Statements of Income for
Years Ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’
Equity and Comprehensive Income for Years
Ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for
Years Ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2)

Financial Statement Schedule for Fiscal
2004, 2003 and 2002 Schedule II Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying
Accounts and Reserves

i
ii
iii
iv
v
vi

xxvii

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial
statements or notes thereto.
(3)
Exhibit No.

Exhibits
Description

Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws.
3(a)

Certificate of Incorporation, incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Form 10-Q filed January 14, 2000, Exhibit 3(a) thereto.

3(b)

By-Laws, incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Form 10-Q filed January 14, 2000, Exhibit 3(b) thereto.
Material contracts.
Executive Compensation Plans and Arrangements (Exhibits 10(a) through 10(l) are management contracts and compensatory plans or
arrangements required to be filed as exhibits pursuant to ITEM 14(c)).
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10(a)

Form of WD-40 Company Supplemental Death Benefit Plan applicable to certain executive officers of the Registrant,
incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Form 10-K filed November 7, 2001.

10(b)

Form of WD-40 Company Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plan applicable to certain executive officers of the Registrant, incorporated by reference
from the Registrant’s Form 10-K filed November 7, 2001.

10(c)

Fourth Amendment and Restatement, WD-40 Company 1990 Incentive Stock Option Plan, incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Proxy
Statement filed on November 4, 2003 (appendix thereto).

10(d)

Employment Agreement between WD-40 Company and Garry O. Ridge dated August 2, 1999, incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Form
10-K Annual Report filed November 23, 1999, Exhibit 10(d) thereto.

10(e)

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated May 20, 2002 between the Registrant and Garry O. Ridge, incorporated by reference from the
Registrant’s Form 10-Q filed July 15, 2002, Exhibit 10(b) thereto.

10(f)

Employment Agreement between WD-40 Company and Michael J. Irwin dated July 9, 2001, incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Form
10-K filed November 7, 2001.

10(g)

Employment Agreement between WD-40 Company and Graham Milner dated July 9, 2001, incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Form 10-K
filed November 7, 2001.

10(h)

Employment Agreement between WD-40 Company and Michael Freeman dated July 9, 2001, incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Form
10-K filed November 7, 2001.

10(i)

Employment Agreement between WD-40 Company and Bill Noble dated July 9, 2001, incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Form 10-K filed
November 7, 2001.

10(j)

Employment Agreement between WD-40 Company and Geoff Holdsworth dated July 9, 2001, incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Form
10-K filed November 7, 2001.

10(k)

Form of Indemnity Agreement between the Registrant and its executive officers and directors, incorporated herein by reference from the Registrant’s
Proxy Statement filed on November 9, 1999 (Appendix D thereto).

10(l)

Third Amended and Restated WD-40 Company 1999 Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Plan incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s
Proxy Statement filed on November 4, 2003 (appendix thereto).

10(m)

Purchase Agreement dated May 3, 2002 by and between the Registrant and Scott Hilkene and Sally Hilkene for the acquisition of Heartland
Corporation, a Kansas Corporation, incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Form 10-Q filed July 15, 2002, Exhibit 10(a) thereto.

14

WD-40 Company Financial Reporting Code of Ethics

21

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31(a)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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31(b)

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32(a)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32(b)

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this annual report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
WD-40 COMPANY
Registrant
/s/ MICHAEL J. IRWIN
MICHAEL J. IRWIN
Executive Vice President
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
Date 10/19/04
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and
in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
/s/ JAY REMBOLT
JAY REMBOLT
Vice President of Finance, Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)
Date 10/19/04
/s/ GARRY O. RIDGE
GARRY O. RIDGE
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date 10/19/04
/s/ JOHN C. ADAMS
JOHN C. ADAMS, JR., Director
Date 10/19/04
/s/ GILES H. BATEMAN
GILES H. BATEMAN, Director
Date 10/19/04
/s/ RICHARD A. COLLATO
RICHARD A. COLLATO, Director
Date 10/19/04
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/s/ MARIO L. CRIVELLO
MARIO L. CRIVELLO, Director
Date 10/19/04
/s/ LINDA A. LANG
LINDA A. LANG, Director
Date 10/25/04
/s/ GARY L. LUICK
GARY L. LUICK, Director
Date 10/19/04
/s/ KENNETH E. OLSON
KENNETH E. OLSON, Director
Date 10/19/04
/s/ GERALD C. SCHLEIF
GERALD C. SCHLEIF, Director
Date 10/19/04
/s/ NEAL E. SCHMALE
NEAL E. SCHMALE, Director
Date 10/19/04
/s/ EDWARD J. WALSH
EDWARD J. WALSH, Director
Date 10/19/04
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To Board of Directors and Shareholders
of WD-40 Company:
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index appearing under Item 15(a)(1) present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of WD-40 Company and its subsidiaries at August 31 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended August 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our
opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index appearing under Item 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all material respects, the information
set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on
our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Diego, CA
October 26, 2004
-i-
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WD-40 Company
Consolidated Balance Sheets
August 31, 2004 and 2003

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade accounts receivable, less allowance for cash discounts, returns and doubtful accounts of $1,440,000 and
$1,768,000
Product held at contract packagers
Inventories
Current deferred tax assets, net
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill
Other intangibles, net
Long-term deferred tax assets, net
Other assets

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued payroll and related expenses
Income taxes payable
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred employee benefits and other long-term liabilities
Long-term deferred tax liabilities, net
Total liabilities

2004

2003

$ 29,433,000

$ 41,971,000

40,643,000
1,975,000
6,322,000
2,830,000
3,026,000

41,925,000
1,704,000
4,709,000
2,387,000
2,565,000

84,229,000

95,261,000

7,081,000
95,832,000
43,428,000
—
6,205,000

6,523,000
92,267,000
35,700,000
642,000
6,265,000

$ 236,775,000

$ 236,658,000

$ 10,000,000
13,836,000
12,151,000
3,935,000
2,613,000

$ 10,000,000
14,772,000
11,999,000
5,122,000
2,780,000

42,535,000

44,673,000

75,000,000
1,969,000
4,853,000

85,000,000
1,781,000
—

124,357,000

131,454,000

17,000
49,616,000
76,152,000
1,659,000
(15,026,000)

17,000
40,607,000
64,068,000
512,000
—

112,418,000

105,204,000

$ 236,775,000

$ 236,658,000

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 7, 8, 9 and 14)
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.001 par value, 36,000,000 shares authorized - 17,089,015 and 16,728,571 shares issued
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Common stock held in treasury, at cost (534,698 shares)
Total shareholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WD-40 Company
Consolidated Statements of Income
Years Ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

2004

2003

2002

$ 242,467,000
116,944,000

$ 238,140,000
115,928,000

$ 216,764,000
108,153,000

125,523,000

122,212,000

108,611,000

58,311,000
21,539,000
—
224,000

54,061,000
17,449,000
879,000
71,000

50,718,000
15,242,000
—
285,000

80,074,000

72,460,000

66,245,000

Income from operations

45,449,000

49,752,000

42,366,000

Interest expense, net of interest income of $484,000, $215,000 and $173,000 in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Other (expense) income, net

(6,387,000)
—
(209,000)

(6,740,000)
—
383,000

(5,791,000)
(1,032,000)
268,000

Net sales
Cost of product sold
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative
Advertising and sales promotion
Loss on write off of non-compete agreement
Amortization

Income before income taxes

38,853,000

43,395,000

35,811,000

Provision for income taxes

13,210,000

14,754,000

11,135,000

$ 25,643,000

$ 28,641,000

$ 24,676,000

$

1.52

$

1.73

$

1.54

$

1.50

$

1.71

$

1.53

Net income
Earnings per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic

16,905,587

16,581,247

15,978,961

Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted

17,118,829

16,758,775

16,154,984

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WD-40 Company
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income
For the Years Ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Common Stock
Shares

Balance at
August 31,
2001
Issuance of
common
stock
upon
exercise
of options
Tax benefit
from
exercise
of stock
options
Canceled
shares,
upon
settlement
of HPD
purchase
price
Stock issued
in
acquisition
Issuance of
restricted
common
stock
Cash
dividends
Equity
adjustment
from
foreign
currency
translation,
net of tax
($348,000)
Net income
Balance at
August 31,
2002
Issuance of
common
stock
upon
exercise
of options
Tax benefit
from
exercise
of stock
options
Issuance of
restricted
common
stock
Cash
dividends
Equity
adjustment
from
foreign
currency
translation,
net of tax
($231,000)

15,717,296

Amount

$

16,000 $

Paid-In
Capital

15,731,000 $

307,348

(11,613)

Retained
Earnings

40,117,000 $

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

(643,000)

Treasury Stock
Shares

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

Amount

$

55,221,000 $

6,575,000

6,575,000

498,000

498,000

(210,000)

(210,000)

434,122

11,712,000

11,712,000

3,451

94,000

94,000
(16,094,000)

706,000

706,000 $
24,676,000

706,000
24,676,000

63,000

83,178,000 $

25,382,000

16,450,604

16,000

34,400,000

272,638

1,000

5,681,000

5,682,000

417,000

417,000

109,000

109,000

5,329

Source: WD 40 CO, 10-K, October 28, 2004

15,602,000

(16,094,000)

24,676,000

48,699,000

Comprehensive
Income

(13,272,000)

(13,272,000)

449,000

449,000 $

449,000

Net income
Balance at
August 31,
2003

28,641,000

16,728,571

17,000

40,607,000

Issuance of
common
stock
upon
exercise
of options
357,240
Tax benefit
from
exercise
of stock
options
Issuance of
restricted
common
stock
3,204
Stock-based
compensation
for
options
issued to
directors
Cash
dividends
Acquisition
of treasury
stock
Equity
adjustment
from
foreign
currency
translation,
net of tax
($578,000)
Net income
Balance at
August 31,
2004

17,089,015

28,641,000

64,068,000

512,000

105,204,000 $

7,914,000

7,914,000

965,000

965,000

110,000

110,000

20,000

20,000
(13,559,000)
$

(15,026,000)

1,147,000
25,643,000

17,000 $

49,616,000 $

76,152,000 $

1,659,000 534,698

$

(15,026,000) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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29,090,000

(13,559,000)
534,698

$

28,641,000

(15,026,000)

1,147,000 $
25,643,000

1,147,000
25,643,000

112,418,000 $

26,790,000

WD-40 Company
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Loss on write off of non-compete agreement
(Gains) losses on sales and disposals of property and equipment
Deferred income tax expense
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options
Equity earnings in joint venture in excess of distributions received
Stock-based compensation
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Bad debt expense
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of assets and liabilities acquired:
Trade accounts receivable
Product held at contract packagers
Inventories
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Deferred employee benefits and other long-term liabilities

2004

2003

2002

$ 25,643,000

$ 28,641,000

$ 24,676,000

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of a business, net of cash acquired
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment
Proceeds from collections on notes receivable
Litigation settlement related to acquired business, net of expenses
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
(Payments) borrowings on line of credit, net
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of issuance costs of $342,000
Repayments of long-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Treasury stock purchases
Dividends paid
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

2,369,000
—
(49,000)
4,504,000
965,000
(281,000)
130,000
—
336,000

1,827,000
879,000
34,000
4,787,000
417,000
(99,000)
109,000
—
342,000

1,824,000
—
(4,000)
1,753,000
498,000
(329,000)
94,000
1,032,000
610,000

2,817,000
(271,000)
(1,306,000)
(479,000)
(2,684,000)
(321,000)
118,000

2,011,000
431,000
1,533,000
(499,000)
(1,800,000)
1,262,000
71,000

(4,278,000)
1,851,000
5,585,000
28,000
4,126,000
(2,017,000)
94,000

31,491,000

39,946,000

35,543,000

(11,555,000)
(2,358,000)
169,000
100,000
—

(48,000)
(2,058,000)
175,000
618,000
—

(35,424,000)
(1,180,000)
122,000
626,000
1,292,000

(13,644,000)

(1,313,000)

(34,564,000)

—
—
(10,000,000)
7,914,000
(15,026,000)
(13,559,000)

(299,000)
—
—
5,681,000
—
(13,272,000)

299,000
94,658,000
(79,783,000)
6,575,000
—
(16,094,000)

(30,671,000)

(7,890,000)

5,655,000

286,000

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

(12,538,000)
41,971,000

137,000

77,000

30,880,000
11,091,000

6,711,000
4,380,000

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$ 29,433,000

$ 41,971,000

$ 11,091,000

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest and fees

$

6,621,000

$

6,934,000

$

$

7,972,000

$

8,525,000

$ 10,864,000

Cash paid for income taxes, net of tax refunds received

4,926,000

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Common stock issued in acquisition

—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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—

11,712,000

WD-40 Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The Company
WD-40 Company (the “Company”), based in San Diego, California, markets two lubricant brands known as WD-40 and 3-IN-ONE Oil, two heavy-duty
hand cleaner brands known as Lava and Solvol, and six household product brands known as X-14 hard surface cleaners and automatic toilet bowl cleaners,
2000 Flushes automatic toilet bowl cleaner, Carpet Fresh and No-Vac rug and room deodorizers, Spot Shot aerosol carpet spot stain remover and 1001
carpet and household cleaners.
The Company’s brands are sold in various global locations. Lubricant brands are sold worldwide in markets such as North, Central and South America,
Asia, Australia and the Pacific Rim, Europe, the Middle East, and Africa. Household cleaner brands are currently sold primarily in North America, the
U.K., Australia and the Pacific Rim. Heavy-duty hand cleaner brands are sold primarily in the U.S. and Australia.
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions
and balances have been eliminated.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Sales Concentration
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. is a significant U.S. mass retail customer and offers a variety of the Company’s products. Sales to U.S. Wal-Mart stores accounted
for approximately 9 percent, 10 percent and 9 percent of the Company’s consolidated net sales during fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Sales
to affiliates of Wal-Mart worldwide accounted for approximately 5 percent during fiscal years 2004 and 2003, and approximately 2 percent during fiscal
2002.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less.
Trade Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The allowance for doubtful accounts is the Company’s best
estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in existing accounts receivable. The Company determines the allowance based on historical write off
experience and by industry and regional economic data. Account balances are charged off against the allowance when the Company feels it is probable that
the receivable will not be recovered. The Company does not have any off-balance sheet credit exposure related to its customers.
Product Held at Contract Packagers
The manufacturing of the Company’s products is outsourced to contract packagers in the United States, Australia, and Canada. These contract packagers
package products to rigid specifications, and upon order from WD-40 Company, ship ready-to-sell inventory to the Company’s customers. The contract
packagers, rather than the Company, are responsible for inventory control. The Company takes title to inventory at the same time the product is shipped to
the customer.
The Company transfers certain raw materials and product components to these contract packagers for use in the manufacturing process. Packagers are
obligated to pay the Company for the inventory upon receipt.
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WD-40 Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
Product held at contract packagers, as reported on the Company’s balance sheet, represents inventory held at United States, Australian and Canadian
contract packagers.
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (as determined based on the average cost method) or market. When necessary, the Company provides allowances
to adjust the carrying value of its inventory to the lower of cost or market, including any costs to sell or dispose. Appropriate consideration is given to
obsolescence, excessive inventory levels, product deterioration, and other factors in evaluating net realizable value for the purposes of determining the
lower of cost or market.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation has been computed using the straight-line method based upon estimated useful lives of ten to
thirty years for buildings and improvements, three to fifteen years for machinery and equipment, five years for vehicles and three to ten years for furniture
and fixtures.
Software Development Costs
The Company capitalizes qualifying software costs which are incurred during the application development stage, and amortizes them over their estimated
useful lives of three to five years. The Company capitalized $0.3 million during each of the three years ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Capitalized software costs are included in property, plant and equipment in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Amortization
expense totaled $0.3 million in fiscal year 2004, and $0.2 million in fiscal years 2003 and 2002.
Goodwill and Other Intangibles
Effective January 1, 2002, the company adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” This statement changed the accounting for
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets from an amortization approach to an impairment-only approach.
The SFAS No. 142 goodwill impairment model is a two-step process. First, it requires comparison of the book value of net assets to the fair value of the
related reporting units that have goodwill assigned to them. If the fair value is determined to be less than book value, a second step is performed to
compute the amount of impairment. In the second step, the implied fair value of goodwill is estimated as the fair value of the reporting unit used in the first
step less the fair values of all other net tangible and intangible assets of the reporting unit. If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair
market value, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess, not to exceed the carrying amount of the goodwill.
Goodwill and intangible assets are tested at least annually for impairment during the Company’s second fiscal quarter unless there are indicators during an
interim period that assets may have become impaired. Indicators such as underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results,
changes in the Company’s strategy or use of acquired assets, decline in the Company’s stock price for a sustained period, unexpected adverse economic
factors, unanticipated technological change, loss of key distribution, change in consumer demand, loss of key personnel and acts by governments and
courts, may signal that an asset has become impaired. The Company’s impairment review is based on a discounted cash flow approach that requires
significant management judgment with respect to future volume, revenue, expense growth rates, and the selection of an appropriate discount rate. In
addition, intangible assets with indefinite lives are evaluated quarterly to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite
useful life. Intangible assets that have definite useful lives are amortized over their useful lives.
Long-Lived Assets
The Company assesses potential impairments to its long-lived assets when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. Any required impairment loss would be measured as the amount by which the asset’s carrying value
exceeds its fair
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
value, which is the amount at which the asset could be bought or sold in a current transaction between willing parties, and would be recorded as a
reduction in the carrying value of the related asset and a charge to results of operations. An impairment loss would be recognized when the sum of the
expected future undiscounted net cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset. No impairment losses have been identified by the Company.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments include cash equivalents, trade receivables, accounts payable, revolving line of credit, and foreign currency
exchange contracts. The carrying amounts of these instruments approximate fair value because of the short maturities or variable interest rates.
The fair value of the Company’s borrowings was approximately $93.2 million and $102.0 million at August 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The fair
values of the borrowings are based on discounted future cash flows using current market interest rates.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of cash and accounts
receivable. The Company’s policy is to place its cash in high credit quality financial institutions, in investments which include operating and money
market accounts. The Company’s accounts receivable are primarily derived from customers located in North America, Asia-Pacific and Europe.
Additionally, the Company limits its credit exposure from trade receivables by performing on-going credit evaluations of customers.
Revenue Recognition
Sales are recognized as revenue at the time of delivery when risk of loss and title pass to the customer. Sales are recorded net of allowances for damaged
goods returns, trade promotions, coupons and cash discounts.
The Company records trade promotions as a reduction of sales in its income statement. The Company offers on-going trade promotion programs with
customers, and consumer coupon programs that require the Company to estimate and accrue the expected costs of such programs. Programs include
cooperative marketing programs, shelf price reductions, coupons, rebates, consideration and allowances given to retailers for space in their stores,
consideration and allowances given to obtain favorable display positions in the retailer’s stores and other promotional activity. Costs related to rebates,
co-operative advertising, and other promotional activity are recorded upon delivery of products to customers. Costs related to coupon offers are based upon
historical redemption rates and are recorded as incurred, when coupons are circulated.
Cost of Product Sold
The components of cost of product sold primarily include the cost of products manufactured on the Company’s behalf by its contract packagers, net of
volume and other rebates. The costs to manufacture WD-40 concentrate are also included in cost of product sold, which include direct labor, direct
materials and supplies; in-bound freight costs related to purchased raw materials; and depreciation of machinery and equipment used in the manufacturing
process.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
The components of selling, general and administrative expenses include costs related to selling the product such as the cost of the sales force and related
sales and broker commissions; freight paid to third-party companies to distribute finished goods from the Company’s contract packagers to its customers;
other general and administrative costs related to the Company’s business such as general overhead, legal and accounting fees, insurance, and depreciation;
and other employee-related costs to support marketing, human resources, finance, supply chain, information technology, and research and development
activities.
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August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
Shipping and Handling Costs
Shipping and handling costs included in selling, general and administrative expenses were $13.9 million, $12 .6 million and $12.0 million in fiscal 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively.
Advertising Costs
The Company primarily advertises through television and print media. The Company’s policy is to expense advertising costs as incurred. Advertising
expenses for the fiscal years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $7.1 million, $7.0 million and $7.2 million, respectively.
Research and Development
The Company is involved in research and development efforts that include the continual development of new products and the improvement of existing
products. All research and development costs are expensed as incurred and are included in selling, general and administrative expenses. Research and
development expenses for the fiscal years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $1.9 million, $2.4 million and $1.4 million, respectively.
Income Taxes
Current income tax expense is the amount of income taxes expected to be payable for the current year. A deferred income tax liability or asset is
established for the expected future tax consequences resulting from the differences in financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. A valuation
allowance is provided if it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
The Company establishes accruals for certain tax contingencies when, despite the belief that the Company’s tax return positions are fully supported, the
Company believes that certain positions may be challenged and that the Company’s positions may not be fully sustained. The tax contingency accruals are
adjusted in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the progress of tax audits, case law, and emerging legislation. The Company’s tax
contingency accruals are reflected as a component of accrued liabilities.
U.S. income tax expense is provided on remittances of foreign earnings and on unremitted foreign earnings that are not indefinitely reinvested. Where
unremitted foreign earnings are indefinitely reinvested, no provision for federal and state tax expense is made.
Foreign Currency
Assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Gains and losses from translation are included in accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss). Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency transactions (transactions denominated in a currency other than the
entity’s functional currency) are included in the consolidated statement of income as other income (expense). Aggregate foreign currency transaction gains
(losses) were ($377,000), $127,000 and ($24,000) for the years ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
The Company uses foreign currency forward contracts to reduce the risk of foreign currency transactions of one of its wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries.
The principal currency affected is the Euro. Forward contracts are accounted for on a mark-to-market basis, with realized and unrealized gains or losses
recognized currently. Cash flows from settlements of forward contracts are included in operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows.
While the Company engages in foreign currency hedging activity to reduce its risk, for accounting purposes, none of the foreign exchange contracts are
designated as hedges.
The Company continually monitors its positions with, and the credit quality of, the major international financial institutions which are counterparties to its
foreign currency forward contracts, and has not
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experienced nonperformance by any of these counterparties. As a matter of policy, the Company does not purchase contracts which exceed the amount of
the foreign denominated cash and accounts receivable balances. At August 31, 2004, the Company had approximately $3.7 million of foreign exchange
contracts outstanding, which mature starting in September 2004 and continue to mature through October 2004. The amount of net realized and unrealized
gains on the foreign exchange contracts was not material for all periods presented.
Earnings per Share
Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income for the period by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income for the period by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding during the period increased by potentially dilutive common shares (“dilutive securities”) that were outstanding during the period.
Dilutive securities are comprised of options granted under the Company’s stock option plan (Note 11).
Stock-Based Compensation
At August 31, 2004, the Company had one stock option plan, which is described more fully in Note 11. The Company accounts for stock-based
compensation for the plan under the recognition and measurement principles of APB Opinion No. 25. Accordingly, the Company measures compensation
expense for its stock option plan using the intrinsic value method, that is, as the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the Company’s stock at the grant
date over the amount required to be paid to acquire the stock. Under the terms of the plan, options may be granted at an exercise price not less than 100
percent of the fair market value of the stock at the date of grant, as determined by the closing market value stock price on either the grant date or the day
prior to the date of grant. The exercise price of substantially all options granted during the years ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was greater than
or equal to the market value on the date of grant.
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SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS No. 123), and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation –
Transition and Disclosure” (SFAS No. 148), prescribe the accounting and disclosure requirements using a fair-value based method of accounting for
stock-based compensation plans. The Company has elected to use the intrinsic value method of accounting for its stock options and has adopted the
disclosure requirements of SFAS Nos. 123 and 148. The following table illustrates the pro forma effect on net income and earnings per common share as if
the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 in determining stock-based compensation for awards under the plan:

Year Ended August 31,
2004

2003

2002

Net income, as reported
Add: Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net income, net of
related tax effects
Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair-value based
method for all awards, net of related tax effects

$ 25,643,000

$ 28,641,000

$ 24,676,000

Pro forma net income

$ 24,634,000

$ 28,047,000

$ 23,442,000

Earnings per common share:
Basic - as reported

$

1.52

$

1.73

$

1.54

Basic - pro forma

$

1.46

$

1.69

$

1.47

Diluted - as reported

$

1.50

$

1.71

$

1.53

Diluted - pro forma

$

1.45

$

1.67

$

1.45

13,000

—

(1,022,000)

—

(594,000)

(1,234,000)

For pro forma purposes, the estimated fair value of each option grant was determined on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
with the following weighted-average assumptions for grants during the years ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

Year Ended August 31,
2004

Risk-free interest rate
Expected volatility of common stock
Dividend yield
Expected option life

2.27%
43.42%
2.70%
3 years

2003

2.20%
39.61%
2.91%
3 years

2002

3.27%
39.40%
5.16%
3 years

Segment Information
The Company discloses certain information about the Company’s operating segments, which are determined consistent with the way management
organizes and evaluates financial information internally for making operating decisions and assessing performance. The Company is organized on the
basis of geographical areas. In addition, management assesses revenue on the basis of products.
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Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year financial statements to conform to classifications used in the current year. These reclassifications
had no effect on reported earnings. As a result of the Company’s adoption of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No.145, “Rescission of SFAS Nos. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of SFAS No. 13, and Technical Correction”, in fiscal year
2003, the loss on early extinguishment of debt recorded as an extraordinary item during the year ended August 31, 2002 was reclassified and reported in
income before taxes.
2.

Acquisitions
1001
On April 2, 2004, the Company purchased the 1001 line of carpet and household cleaners from PZ Cussons P.L.C. for 6.2 million pounds sterling ($11.4
million) paid in cash, and an additional $0.2 million of acquisition costs for a total purchase price of $11.6 million. The acquisition included essentially all
key elements to continue the 1001 business including: the 1001 trade name, intellectual property of the brand, all pertinent information surrounding the
manufacturing of the 1001 products including product formulations, access and knowledge of current customers of the products, key marketing knowledge
and materials, and research supporting current products and potential new products. The Company acquired this line of products to gain a presence in the
U.K. market, and to leverage an introduction of the Company’s current Spot Shot and Carpet Fresh formulas through the use of an existing brand currently
recognized by market consumers. The purchase price exceeds the fair market value of the identifiable assets acquired, due to the expectations that the
Company will be able to successfully introduce its other household product formulations under the 1001 brand in order to expand the Company’s
household products business into the U.K. market.
The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting in accordance with SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” and,
accordingly, 1001 results of operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition.
The following table presents the allocation of the purchase price to the various assets of the 1001 business, as of the April 2, 2004 acquisition date, based
on an independent valuation of assets acquired performed by a third-party valuation firm:
1001 Trade name
Non-contractual customer relationships
Goodwill

$ 3,713,000
4,354,000
3,488,000

Total purchase price

$11,555,000

Heartland Corporation
On May 31, 2002, the Company completed the acquisition of the business, worldwide brand trademarks and other intangible assets of Heartland
Corporation, a Kansas corporation (“Heartland”), through the acquisition of the entire capital stock of Heartland. The principal brand acquired by the
Company is the Spot Shot brand, an aerosol carpet spot remover. The Company sees growth potential for the brand through increased brand awareness,
consumer usage, and household penetration, along with the expansion of the brand into new trade channels. The acquisition was accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting in accordance with SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”, and, accordingly, Heartland’s results of operations have
been included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition. The Company paid cash in the amount of $35.0 million, issued 434,122
shares of $.001 par value common stock of the Company to the selling Heartland shareholders having a value of $11.7 million, and incurred acquisition
costs of $0.6 million. The aggregate acquisition value was $47.2 million, after a final downward purchase price adjustment of $0.1 million for settlement
of the closing balance sheet.
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The acquisition of the Spot Shot brand expands the Company’s product assortment in a related category, and offers potential for leveraging product
distribution. The purchase price exceeds the fair market value of the identifiable assets acquired, due to the expectations that brand synergy and operational
fit will allow the Company to integrate the acquired business into the Company’s existing infrastructure with modest incremental cost. The process is
thereby expected to increase the profit generated from the acquired business.
HPD Holdings Corp.
On April 30, 2001, the Company completed the acquisition of the business, worldwide brand trademarks, patents and other tangible and intangible assets
known as Global Household Brands through the acquisition of the entire capital stock of HPD Holdings Corp. (“HPD”) and its wholly-owned subsidiary,
HPD Laboratories, Inc. The three principal brand trademarks and related patents acquired from HPD by the Company were 2000 Flushes automatic toilet
bowl cleaners, X-14 automatic toilet bowl cleaners and hard surface cleaners, and Carpet Fresh rug and room deodorizers. The acquisition was accounted
for using the purchase method of accounting in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 16, “Business Combinations,” and,
accordingly, HPD’s results of operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition. The aggregate cost of
the acquisition was approximately $72.9 million, consisting of cash of approximately $66.5 million, acquisition costs of $1.6 million, and $4.8 million of
the Company’s common stock (264,875 shares).
The acquisition of HPD was made to move the Company forward in its long-term brand strategy, while also providing economies of scale in sales,
manufacturing and administration, and to strengthen the Company’s position as a meaningful player in the grocery trade channel. The purchase price
exceeds the fair market value of the identifiable assets acquired, due to the expected benefits from combining HPD’s broker network and grocery business
with the Company’s hardware, mass retail and industrial distribution, which gives the Company good growth potential for all brands across new trade
channels.
3.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles
Goodwill and other intangibles principally relate to the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of tangible assets acquired. Goodwill and intangible
assets that have indefinite useful lives are tested at least annually for impairment during the Company’s second fiscal quarter and otherwise as may be
required. The Company uses a discounted cash flow model in its impairment test. Intangible assets with indefinite lives are evaluated each reporting period
to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life.
In conjunction with the 1001 acquisition, the Company acquired goodwill of $3.4 million, the 1001 trade name valued at $3.7 million, and the
non-contractual customer relationships intangible asset valued at $4.3 million. The non-contractual customer relationships intangible asset is amortized
over its estimated eight-year life. The 1001 trade name has been determined to have an indefinite life.
Definite-Lived Intangible Assets
The non-contractual customer relationships intangible asset was acquired in the 1001 acquisition, and is included in the European segment. This
definite-lived intangible asset is recorded in pounds sterling and converted to U.S. dollars for reporting purposes.
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The following includes the non-contractual customer relationships intangible asset related to the 1001 acquisition that continues to be subject to
amortization:
As of
August 31, 2004

Gross carrying amount
Accumulated amortization

$

4,291,000
(224,000)

Net carrying amount

$

4,067,000

Year Ended
August 31, 2004

Amortization expense

$

224,000

The below estimated amortization expense for the non-contractual customer relationships intangible asset is based on current foreign currency rates, and
amounts in future periods may differ from those presented due to fluctuations in those rates. The estimated amortization for the non-contractual customer
relationships intangible asset in future fiscal years is as follows:
August 31, 2005
August 31, 2006
August 31, 2007
August 31, 2008
August 31, 2009
Thereafter

$ 536,000
536,000
536,000
536,000
536,000
1,387,000
$4,067,000

Changes in definite-lived intangibles by segment for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2004 and 2003, are summarized below:

Definite-Lived Intangibles
Americas

$

Balance as of August 31, 2002
Acquisitions
Amortization
Write off of non-compete agreement
Translation adjustments and other

950,000
—
(71,000)
(879,000)
—
—
—
—
—

Balance as of August 31, 2003
Acquisitions
Amortization
Translation adjustments and other
$

Balance as of August 31, 2004

—

Europe

$

—
—
—
—
—

Asia-Pacific

$

—
4,354,000
(224,000)
(63,000)
$ 4,067,000

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

—

Due to the death of a party to a non-compete agreement in the second quarter of fiscal year 2003, the business to which the agreement relates is not likely
to continue. Accordingly, the remaining $0.9 million book value of this asset was determined to be impaired and was written off during the second quarter
of fiscal year 2003.
Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
Intangible assets, excluding goodwill, which are not amortized as they have been determined to have indefinite lives, consist of trade names. Trade names
include Carpet Fresh, X-14, 2000 Flushes, Spot Shot and 1001 with a total value of $39.4 million, of which $35.7 million and $3.7 million are included in
the assets of the Americas and European segments, respectively.
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Changes in indefinite-lived intangibles by segment for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2004, and 2003, are summarized below:

Indefinite-Lived Intangibles
Americas

$

Balance as of August 31, 2002
Acquisitions
Translation adjustments and other

Europe

35,700,000
—
—
35,700,000
—
—

Balance as of August 31, 2003
Acquisitions
Translation adjustments and other
$

Balance as of August 31, 2004

35,700,000

$

Asia-Pacific

—
—
—

$

—
—
—

—
3,713,000
(52,000)

—
—
—

$ 3,661,000

$

—

Acquisition-Related Goodwill
The carrying value of all acquisition-related goodwill at August 31, 2004 and August 31, 2003 was $95.8 million and $92.3 million, respectively. The
other changes to goodwill from period to period other than the goodwill associated with the 1001 acquisition relate to changes in foreign currency
translation rates and to the finalization of purchase accounting and acquisition-related costs.
Changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill by segment for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2004 and 2003, are summarized below:

Acquisition-Related Goodwill
Americas

$

Balance as of August 31, 2002
Acquisitions
Translation adjustments and other
Balance as of August 31, 2003
Acquisitions
Translation adjustments and other

$

Balance as of August 31, 2004

4.

86,041,000
—
(501,000)

Europe

Asia-Pacific

$ 5,474,000
—
43,000

85,540,000
—
72,000

5,517,000
3,488,000
3,000

85,612,000

$ 9,008,000

$

1,210,000
—
—
1,210,000
—
2,000

$

1,212,000

Selected Financial Statement Information

As of August 31,
2004

Inventories
Raw materials
Finished goods

$

540,000
5,782,000

$ 6,322,000
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2003

$

441,000
4,268,000

$ 4,709,000
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As of August 31,
2004

Property, Plant and Equipment, net
Land
Buildings and improvements
Furniture and fixtures
Software
Machinery, equipment and vehicles

$

2003

514,000
3,644,000
3,819,000
2,419,000
4,675,000

$

15,071,000
(7,990,000)

Less: accumulated depreciation
$
Goodwill and Other Intangibles, net
Acquisition-related goodwill
Intangibles with indefinite lives
Intangibles with definite lives
Less: accumulated amortization

7,081,000

514,000
3,465,000
3,374,000
1,823,000
3,476,000
12,652,000
(6,129,000)

$

6,523,000

$ 95,832,000
39,361,000
4,291,000
(224,000)

$ 92,267,000
35,700,000
—
—

$ 139,260,000

$ 127,967,000

5.

Stock Repurchase Plan
On April 6, 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a share buy-back plan. Under the plan, which was in effect for up to twelve months, the
Company was authorized to acquire up to $15 million of the Company’s outstanding shares. During the last five months of fiscal year 2004, the Company
completed the repurchase program by acquiring 534,698 shares at a total cost of $15.0 million.

6.

Earnings per Common Share
The schedule below summarizes the elements included in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per common share for the years ended August 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002. For the years ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002: 143,467, 266,972 and 299,143 options outstanding, respectively, were
excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS, as the options have an exercise price greater than or equal to the average market value of the Company’s
common stock during the respective periods.

Year Ended August 31,

Net income
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Weighted-average shares outstanding – basic
Dilutive securities
Weighted-average shares outstanding – diluted

-xvi-

Source: WD 40 CO, 10-K, October 28, 2004

2004

2003

2002

$ 25,643,000

$ 28,641,000

$ 24,676,000

16,905,587
213,242

16,581,247
177,528

15,978,961
176,023

17,118,829

16,758,775

16,154,984

WD-40 Company
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7.

Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt is comprised of the following:

August 31,

Term loans
Revolving line of credit
Total debt
Less: current portion

2004

2003

$ 85,000,000
—

$ 95,000,000
—

85,000,000
(10,000,000)

Long-term debt

$ 75,000,000

95,000,000
(10,000,000)
$ 85,000,000

On October 18, 2001, the Company replaced two variable-rate term loans with proceeds from a $75 million long-term obligation and a $15 million
variable rate revolving line of credit financed through Prudential Capital and Union Bank. The new $75 million long-term obligation consists of a
fixed-rate note with a 10-year term and requires interest-only payments for the first three years. The note bears interest at an annualized rate of 7.28%. The
revolving line of credit has a variable rate based on the LIBOR rate plus 1.75%, and matures in October of 2005.
In conjunction with this refinancing, the Company recorded a loss of $1,032,000, as a result of the replacement of term loans A and B. The loss consists of
the write off of unamortized debt issuance costs associated with the original financing.
On May 31, 2002 the Company acquired Heartland Corporation, which was financed primarily through a $20 million term loan from Prudential Capital
and a $7 million draw down on the revolving line of credit from Union Bank. This term loan consists of a fixed-rate note with a 3-year term, and with two
principal payments of $10 million each, one of which was paid in May 2004, with the second payment due on May 31, 2005. The note bears interest at an
annualized rate of 6.29%. In addition, the revolving line of credit with Union Bank of California, N.A., was increased to an availability of $20 million at a
variable interest rate. In September 2003, the Company chose to reduce the availability on the revolving line of credit from $20 million down to $10
million.
The term loans and revolving line of credit agreements have consistent covenant requirements, which require the Company to maintain minimum
consolidated net worth greater than the sum of $57 million plus 25% of consolidated net income for each fiscal quarter beginning with the first fiscal
quarter of 2002, plus proceeds of all equity securities other than those issued under the employee stock option plan. A consolidated fixed charge coverage
ratio greater than 1.20:1.00 on the last day of any fiscal quarter must be maintained. The Company is also limited to a maximum ratio of funded debt to
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) of 2.25 to 1.00. The term loans are collateralized by the Company’s cash,
property, inventory, trade receivables, and intangible assets. The term loans also include certain provisions for prepayment penalties.
The events of default under the credit facility, including the fixed-rate term loans and the $10 million variable-rate revolving line of credit, include the
following:
•

Failure to pay principal or interest when due;

•

Failure to comply with covenants, representations and warranties, or other terms and conditions under the credit agreements;

•

Commencing any proceeding for bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, dissolution or liquidation; and
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•
The sale, transfer, abandonment, forfeiture or disposal of the WD-40 trademark or any other trademark used in a material product line.
The term loans and revolving line of credit contain cross default provisions. In the event of default, the term loans and revolving line of credit may be due
and callable immediately at the option of the holders.
This facility also limits the Company’s ability, without prior approval from the Company’s lenders, to incur additional unsecured indebtedness, sell, lease
or transfer assets, place liens on properties, complete certain acquisitions, mergers or consolidations, enter into guarantee obligations, enter into related
party transactions, and make certain loan advances and investments. The Company is in compliance with all debt covenants as required by the credit
facilities.
The aggregate maturities of the fixed-rate term loans are as follows:
Year ending August 31, 2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter

$10,000,000
10,715,000
10,715,000
10,715,000
10,715,000
32,140,000

Total

8.

$85,000,000

Related Parties
VML was formed in April 2001, at which time the Company acquired a 30% capital and membership interest. The capital interest vests over a five-year
period. Since formation, VML has served as the Company’s contract manufacturer for certain household products, and acts as a warehouse distributor for
other product lines of the Company. Although VML has begun to expand its business to other customers, the Company continues to be its largest
customer.
The Company has the right to sell its 30% interest in VML to the 70% owner, and the 70% owner also has the right to purchase the Company’s 30%
interest. VML makes profit distributions to the Company and the 70% owner on a discretionary basis in proportion to each party’s respective interest.
The Company’s investment in VML is accounted for using the equity method of accounting, and its equity in VML earnings is recorded as a component of
cost of products sold, as VML acts primarily as a contract manufacturer to the Company. The Company recorded equity earnings related to its investment
in VML of $0.5 million, $0.8 million, and $0.7 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 respectively.
The Company’s maximum exposure to loss as a result of its involvement with VML was $0.9 million as of August 31, 2004. This amount represents the
balance of the Company’s equity investment in VML, which is included in other long-term assets on the Company’s balance sheet. The Company’s
investment in VML as of August 31, 2003 was $0.7 million.
Product purchased from VML was approximately $38.2 million, $42.7 million and $39.1 million during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. The Company had product payables to VML of $1.9 million and $4.7 million at August 31, 2004 and August 31, 2003, respectively.
The Company had formerly guaranteed VML’s $6 million line of credit, however, the guarantee was removed effective May 28, 2004.
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9.

Commitments and Contingencies
The Company was committed under certain noncancelable operating leases at August 31, 2004 which provide for the following future minimum lease
payments: 2005, $1,225,000; 2006, $1,126,000; 2007, $304,000; 2008, $137,000; 2009, $95,000, and $8,000 thereafter. Rent expense for the years ended
August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $1,065,000, $1,020,000 and $1,054,000, respectively.
The Company is party to various claims, legal actions and complaints, including product liability litigation, arising in the ordinary course of business. In
the opinion of management, all such matters are adequately covered by insurance or will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
position or results of operations, with the possible exception of the legal actions discussed below.
On October 2, 2002, a legal action was filed against the Company seeking class action status in the State of Florida for damage claims arising out of the
use of the automatic toilet bowl cleaners sold by the Company under the brand names 2000 Flushes and X-14. On April 26, 2004, the Circuit Court of the
11 th Judicial Circuit in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida issued an order denying the application for class certification. The plaintiff has filed an appeal,
and the action remains pending with respect to the plaintiff’s individual claims.
On September 4, 2003 a legal action was filed against the Company in San Diego County, California. The complaint seeks class action status for damage
claims arising out of the use of the automatic toilet bowl cleaners sold by the Company under the brand names 2000 Flushes and X-14. On September 23,
2003, a separate legal action was filed against the Company in San Diego County on similar grounds.
If class certification is granted in any of the aforementioned legal actions, it is reasonably possible that the outcome could have a material adverse effect on
the operating results, financial position and cash flows of the Company. There is not sufficient information to estimate the Company’s exposure at this
time.
On March 11, 2004 a legal action was filed against the Company’s subsidiary, Heartland Corporation, in the District Court of Johnson County, Kansas.
The plaintiff alleges that Heartland Corporation failed to pay rent pursuant to certain lease obligations. In the opinion of management, this action is without
merit and will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
On May 28, 2004, separate but substantially identical legal actions were filed by the same plaintiff against the Company in the United States District Court
for the District of Kansas and in the District Court of Johnson County, Kansas. The plaintiff asserts claims for damages for alleged fraud in connection
with the acquisition of Heartland Corporation by the Company on May 31, 2002. The plaintiff alleges federal and state securities fraud and common law
fraud claims against the Company. In the opinion of management, these actions are without merit and are not expected to have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
The Company has relationships with various suppliers who manufacture the Company’s products (“Contract Manufacturers”). Although the Company
does not have any definitive minimum purchase obligations included in the contract terms with Contract Manufacturers, supply needs are communicated
and the Company is committed to purchase the products produced based on orders and short-term projections provided to the Contract Manufacturers,
which obligates the Company to purchase back obsolete or slow-moving inventory. The Company has acquired inventory under these commitments, the
amounts of which have been immaterial.
As permitted under Delaware law, the Company has agreements whereby it indemnifies senior officers and directors for certain events or occurrences
while the officer or director is, or was, serving at the Company’s request in such capacity. The maximum potential amount of future payments the
Company could be
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required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited; however, the Company maintains Director and Officer insurance coverage that
mitigates the Company’s exposure with respect to such obligations. As a result of the Company’s insurance coverage, management believes that the
estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal. No liabilities have been recorded for these agreements as of August 31, 2004.
From time to time, the Company enters into indemnification agreements with certain contractual parties in the ordinary course of business, including
agreements with lenders, lessors, contract manufacturers, marketing distributors, customers and certain vendors. All such indemnification agreements are
entered into in the context of the particular agreements and are provided in an attempt to properly allocate risk of loss in connection with the
consummation of the underlying contractual arrangements. Although the maximum amount of future payments that the Company could be required to
make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited, management believes that the Company maintains adequate levels of insurance coverage to
protect the Company with respect to most potential claims arising from such agreements and that such agreements do not otherwise have value separate
and apart from the liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of the Company’s business. No liabilities have been recorded with respect to such
indemnification agreements as of August 31, 2004.
10.

Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes includes the following:

Year Ended August 31,
2004

2003

2002

Current Tax Provision
United States
State
Foreign

$ 5,286,000
825,000
2,625,000

$ 7,230,000
750,000
2,001,000

$ 6,864,000
924,000
1,832,000

Total current

8,736,000

9,981,000

9,620,000

Deferred Tax Provision
United States
Foreign

4,222,000
252,000

4,553,000
220,000

1,515,000
—

Total deferred

4,474,000

4,773,000

1,515,000

$ 13,210,000

$ 14,754,000

$ 11,135,000

Income before income taxes includes approximately $7,175,000, $5,959,000 and $5,211,000 related to foreign operations for the years ended August 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are comprised of the following:

August 31,
2004

Deferred Tax Assets
Accrued payroll and related expenses
State income taxes paid
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred employee benefits and other long-term liabilities
Other
Net operating loss

$

Total deferred tax assets

199,000
182,000
761,000
1,356,000
643,000
(41,000)
3,613,000

2003

$

234,000
216,000
929,000
1,050,000
598,000
325,000
5,846,000

6,713,000

9,198,000

Deferred Tax Liabilities
Property, plant and equipment, net
Amortization of tax goodwill and intangibles
Other assets

(306,000)
(7,396,000)
(1,034,000)

(524,000)
(4,701,000)
(944,000)

Total deferred tax liabilities

(8,736,000)

(6,169,000)

Net deferred taxes

$ (2,023,000)

$ 3,029,000

As of August 31, 2004, the Company had net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes of approximately
$10,032,000 and $4,231,000, respectively. The federal and state NOL carryforwards begin to expire in 2019 and 2014, respectively. In the current year, the
Company utilized federal and state NOL carryforwards of $6,115,000 and $1,158,000, respectively.
Following is a reconciliation of the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to income before income taxes to the provision for
income taxes:

Year Ended August 31,

Amount computed at U.S. statutory federal tax rate
State income taxes, net of federal benefit
Tax credits
Benefit from resolution of pending tax matters
Other

2004

2003

2002

$ 13,599,000
950,000
(509,000)
(410,000)
(420,000)

$ 15,188,000
1,133,000
(1,265,000)
(253,000)
(49,000)

$ 12,538,000
1,395,000
(850,000)
(1,438,000)
(510,000)

$ 13,210,000

$ 14,754,000

$ 11,135,000

The Company has provided for the potential repatriation of certain undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries and considers earnings above the
amounts on which tax has been provided to be permanently reinvested. Upon distribution of those earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, the
Company would be subject to both U.S. income taxes (subject to adjustment for foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes payable to various foreign
countries. Determination of an amount of unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax liability is not practicable because of the complexities associated with its
hypothetical calculation; however, unrecognized foreign tax credits would be available to reduce a large portion of the U.S. liability.
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While the Company is currently studying the impact of the one-time favorable foreign dividend provisions recently enacted as part of the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004, as of August 31, 2004 and based on the tax laws in effect at that time, it was the Company’s intention to continue to indefinitely
reinvest certain undistributed foreign earnings and, accordingly, no deferred tax liability has been recorded in connection therewith.
The tax benefit related to the Company’s stock option plan is recorded as an increase to equity when realized. In fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, the
Company realized tax benefits of approximately $965,000, $417,000 and $498,000, respectively. Stock option tax benefits are reflected as a component of
operating cash flows.
The Internal Revenue Code imposes certain conditions and possible limitations on the future availability of, and on the annual amount of utilization of, net
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, including limitations arising from changes in the Company’s ownership.
11.

Stock Options
Under the Company’s current stock option plan, the Board of Directors may grant options to purchase up to 4,480,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock to officers, key employees and non-employee directors of the Company. During the year ended August 31, 2004, the Company’s shareholders
approved an increase of an additional 1.5 million shares authorized for grant under the plan, up from 2,980,000 shares previously authorized. At August
31, 2004, options for 1,711,576 shares remained available for future grant under the plan. Options canceled return to the pool available for grant. The plan
is administered by the Board of Directors or its designees and provides that options granted under the plan will be exercisable at such times and under such
conditions as may be determined by the Board of Directors at the time of grant of such option, however options may not be granted for terms in excess of
ten years. Options outstanding under the plan have been granted with immediate vesting, vesting after one year and vesting over a period of three years.
The terms of the plan provide for the granting of options at an exercise price not less than 100 percent of the fair market value of the stock at the date of
grant, as determined by the closing market value stock price on either the grant date or the day prior to the date of grant. The exercise price of substantially
all options granted during the years ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was greater than or equal to the market value on the date of grant and,
accordingly, no stock-based compensation expense for such options is reflected in net income. However, during the year ended August 31, 2004, certain
options were issued to non-employee directors at an exercise price below fair market value on the date of the grant as a result of the option exercise price
being determined as the closing price of the stock on the day prior to the date of grant. These options were issued in accordance with the plan and the
Director Compensation Policy. Stock-based compensation expense for such options, net of related tax effects, included in reported net income for the year
ended August 31, 2004 aggregated $13,000.
-xxii-

Source: WD 40 CO, 10-K, October 28, 2004

WD-40 Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plan as of August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 and of changes in options outstanding under the plan
during the three years ended August 31, 2004 is as follows:
WeightedAverage
Number of Shares

Options outstanding at August 31, 2001

Exercise Price

1,409,048

Options granted
Options exercised
Options canceled

278,900
(307,348)
(50,488)

Options outstanding at August 31, 2002
Options exercisable at August 31, 2002

1,330,112
1,052,683

Options granted
Options exercised
Options canceled

302,200
(272,438)
(27,312)

Options outstanding at August 31, 2003
Options exercisable at August 31, 2003

1,332,562
1,029,782

Options granted
Options exercised
Options canceled

326,450
(357,240)
(31,852)

Options outstanding at August 31, 2004

1,269,920

Options exercisable at August 31, 2004

813,675

$

22.28

$
$
$

20.94
21.39
20.99

$
$

22.28
22.56

$
$
$

27.70
20.84
26.05

$
$

23.73
22.54

$
$
$

29.66
22.17
24.97

$

25.57

$

23.84

The weighted-average fair value per share of options granted during the years ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, estimated as of the grant date using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the assumptions described in Note 1, was $8.13, $6.53 and $4.43, respectively.
The following table summarizes information about outstanding and exercisable stock options as of August 31, 2004:

Options Outstanding

Outstanding

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Life (in Years)

588,811
681,109

5.72
7.79

$
$

21.40
29.18

588,811
224,864

$
$

21.40
30.23

1,269,920

6.83

$

25.57

813,675

$

23.84

Number
Range of Exercise Prices

$18.08 - $24.32
$24.32 - $34.74
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Options Exercisable

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

Number
Exercisable

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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12.

Other Benefit Plans
The Company has a WD-40 Company Profit Sharing/401(k) Plan and Trust (the “Profit Sharing/401(k) Plan”) whereby regular U.S. full-time employees
who have completed certain minimum service requirements can defer a portion of their income through contributions to a trust. The Profit Sharing/401(k)
Plan provides for Company contributions to the trust, as approved by the Board of Directors, as follows: 1) matching contributions to each participant up
to 50% of the first 6.6% of compensation contributed by the participant; 2) fixed non-elective contributions in the amount equal to 10% of eligible
compensation; and 3) a discretionary non-elective contribution in an amount to be determined by the Board of Directors up to 5% of eligible
compensation. The Company’s contributions are subject to overall employer contribution limits and may not exceed the amount deductible for income tax
purposes. The Plan may be amended or discontinued at any time by the Company.
Total Company contribution expense for the WD-40 Company Profit Sharing/401(k) Plan and the former WD-40 Money Purchase Pension Plan during the
years ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was approximately $1,509,000, $1,633,000 and $1,950,000, respectively. Effective December 31, 2002, the
WD-40 Company Money Purchase Pension Plan was merged into the WD-40 Company Profit Sharing/401(k) Plan.
The Company’s international subsidiaries have similar benefit plan arrangements, dependent upon the local applicable laws and regulations. The plans
provide for Company contributions to an appropriate third party plan, as approved by the subsidiary’s Board of Directors. Company contribution expense
related to the international plans during the years ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was approximately $673,000, $606,000 and $518,000,
respectively.
The Company provides fixed retirement benefits to certain of its key executives under a supplemental employee retirement plan. The accumulated benefit
obligation was $1,656,000 and $1,601,000 at August 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The service and interest costs amounted to approximately $194,000,
$253,000 and $229,000 for the years ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. During each year ended August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the
plan paid benefits of approximately $141,000. A weighted-average discount rate of 6.5% and a weighted-average rate of compensation increase of 4%
were used to calculate the accumulated benefit obligation and service costs for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2004. A weighted-average discount rate of
7% and a weighted-average rate of compensation increase of 3% were used for each of the fiscal years ended August 31, 2003 and 2002.
On October 28, 2003, the Board of Directors adopted the Third Amended and Restated WD-40 Company 1999 Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock
Plan. The plan was approved by the Company’s shareholders at the annual meeting of stockholders held on December 16, 2003. Pursuant to the plan and
the current director compensation policy, shares are issued to non-employee directors of the Company in lieu of cash compensation of up to $23,000
according to an election made by the director as of the October meeting of the Board of Directors. A director who holds shares of the Company having a
value of at least $50,000 may elect to receive his or her annual director’s fee in cash. Otherwise, directors must elect to receive restricted stock in lieu of
cash in the amount of $5,500, $11,000, $16,500 or $23,000.
The restricted shares are to be issued in accordance with a director’s election as soon as practicable after the first day of March. The number of shares to be
issued is equal to the amount of compensation to be paid in shares divided by 90% of the closing price of the Company’s shares as of the first business day
of March. Compensation expense is recorded upon the performance of services. Restricted shares issued to a director do not become vested for resale for a
period of five years or until the director’s retirement from the Board following the director’s 65 th birthday. Unless a director has reached age 65, the shares
are subject to forfeiture if, during the five year vesting period, the director resigns from service as a director. During the years ended August 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002, the Company issued 3,204, 5,329 and 3,451 shares of restricted stock.
-xxiv-

Source: WD 40 CO, 10-K, October 28, 2004

WD-40 Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
13.

Business Segments and Foreign Operations
The accounting policies of the Company’s reportable segments are the same as those described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Note
1). The Company evaluates the performance of its segments and allocates resources to them based on sales and operating income. The Company is
organized based on geographic location. Segment data does not include inter-segment revenues, and incorporates headquarter costs into the America’s
segment, without allocation to other segments. The Company’s segments are run independently, and as a result, there are few costs that could be
considered only headquarter costs that would qualify for allocation to other segments. The most significant portions of headquarter costs relate to the
Americas segment both as a percentage of time and sales. Therefore, any allocation to other segments would be arbitrary.
The table below presents information about reported segments for the years ended August 31:
The
Americas

Europe

AsiaPacific

Total

2004
Net sales
Income from operations
Depreciation expense
Interest income
Interest expense
Total assets

$
$
$
$
$
$

166,142,000
29,898,000
733,000
412,000
6,871,000
190,435,000

$ 57,703,000
$ 10,968,000
$
555,000
$
58,000
$
—
$ 41,741,000

$ 18,622,000
$ 4,583,000
$
73,000
$
14,000
$
—
$ 4,599,000

$ 242,467,000
$ 45,449,000
$ 1,361,000
$
484,000
$ 6,871,000
$ 236,775,000

Net sales
Income from operations
Depreciation expense
Interest income
Interest expense
Total assets

$
$
$
$
$
$

178,500,000
36,960,000
802,000
128,000
6,955,000
207,978,000

$ 45,231,000
$ 9,244,000
$
501,000
$
81,000
$
—
$ 23,885,000

$ 14,409,000
$ 3,548,000
$
59,000
$
6,000
$
—
$ 4,795,000

$ 238,140,000
$ 49,752,000
$ 1,362,000
$
215,000
$ 6,955,000
$ 236,658,000

Net sales
Income from operations
Depreciation expense
Interest income
Interest expense
Total assets

$
$
$
$
$
$

165,097,000
30,861,000
647,000
111,000
5,964,000
188,000,000

$ 38,878,000
$ 8,302,000
$
520,000
$
55,000
$
—
$ 23,088,000

$ 12,789,000
$ 3,201,000
$
41,000
$
7,000
$
—
$ 3,957,000

$ 216,764,000
$ 42,366,000
$ 1,208,000
$
173,000
$ 5,964,000
$ 215,045,000

2003

2002

Sales

Product Line Information
Lubricants
Hand cleaning products
Household products

Geographical Information
United States
United Kingdom
Other international
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2004

2003

2002

$ 157,911,000
6,643,000
77,913,000

$ 145,037,000
7,538,000
85,565,000

$ 134,369,000
10,150,000
72,245,000

$ 242,467,000

$ 238,140,000

$ 216,764,000

$ 146,004,000
18,040,000
78,423,000

$ 160,295,000
11,785,000
66,060,000

$ 148,970,000
11,745,000
56,049,000

$ 242,467,000

$ 238,140,000

$ 216,764,000

WD-40 Company
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
August 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Non-current Assets

Geographical Information
United States
International

2004

2003

$ 127,138,000
25,408,000

$ 124,708,000
16,689,000

$ 152,546,000

$ 141,397,000

The Company completed the acquisition of Heartland on May 31, 2002, and the acquisition of HPD on April 30, 2001. Sales of products acquired in the
Heartland and HPD acquisitions are included in the Americas segment and Household products product line. During the year ended August 31, 2002, sales
of Heartland products were $7.3 million for the three months following acquisition. During the year ended August 31, 2001, sales of HPD products were
$22.1 million for the four months following acquisition.
The Company completed the acquisition of the 1001 line of carpet and household cleaners on April 2, 2004. Sales of the products acquired in the 1001
acquisition are included in the Europe segment and Household products product line. During the year ended August 31, 2004, sales of 1001 products were
$3.2 million for the five months following acquisition.
14.

Subsequent Events
On October 6, 2004, the Company declared a cash dividend of $.20 per share payable on October 29, 2004 to shareholders of record on October 18, 2004.
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WD-40 Company
Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves
Additions
Charged to
Costs and

Balance
at Beginning
of Period

Expenses

Balance
at End of
Period

Deductions*

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Year ended August 31, 2002

$

758,000

$

610,000

$

330,000

$ 1,038,000

Year ended August 31, 2003

$

1,038,000

$

342,000

$

249,000

$ 1,131,000

Year ended August 31, 2004

$

1,131,000

$

336,000

$

625,000

$

* Write off of doubtful accounts
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Exhibit 14
WD-40 Company Financial Reporting Code of Ethics
As a public company it is of critical importance that the WD-40 Company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission be accurate and timely.
WD-40 Company expects all of its people to take this responsibility very seriously and to provide prompt and accurate answers to inquiries related to the
Company’s public disclosure requirements.
The Finance Team bears a special responsibility for promoting integrity throughout the organization, with responsibilities to stakeholders both inside and
outside of the WD-40 Company. The Chief Executive Officer and Finance Team people have a special role both to adhere to these principles themselves
and also to ensure that a culture exists throughout the company as a whole that ensures the fair and timely reporting of WD-40 Company’s financial results
and condition.
Because of this special role, the Chief Executive Officer and all members of WD-40 Company’s Finance Team are bound by the following Financial
Reporting Code of Ethics, and by accepting the Code of Business Conduct, each agrees that he or she will:
•

Act with honesty and integrity, avoiding actual or apparent conflicts of interest in personal and professional relationships.

•

Provide information that is accurate, complete, objective, relevant, timely and understandable to ensure full, fair, accurate, timely, and
understandable disclosure in reports and documents that WD-40 Company files with, or submits to, government agencies and in other public
communications.

•

Comply with rules and regulations of federal, state, provincial and local governments, and other appropriate private and public regulatory
agencies.

•

Act in good faith, responsibly, with due care, competence and diligence, without misrepresenting material facts or allowing one’s independent
judgment to be subordinated.

•

Respect the confidentiality of information acquired in the course of one’s work except when authorized or otherwise legally obligated to
disclose. Confidential information acquired in the course of one’s work will not be used for personal advantage.

•

Share knowledge and maintain skills important and relevant to stakeholder’s needs.

•

Proactively promote and be an example of ethical behavior as a responsible partner among peers, in the work environment and the community.

•

Achieve responsible use of and control over all assets and resources employed or entrusted.

•

Promptly report to the CFO, CEO and/or the Chairman of the Audit Committee any conduct that the individual believes to be a violation of law
or business ethics or of any provision of the Code of Ethics, including any transaction or relationship that reasonably could be expected to give
rise to such a conflict. If you are concerned about maintaining anonymity, you may contact the Accounting Practices hotline.

Violations of this Financial Reporting Code of Ethics, including failures to report potential violations by others, will be viewed as a severe disciplinary
matter that may result in personnel action, including termination of employment.
It is against WD-40 Company policy to retaliate against any employee for good faith reporting of violations of this Code.

Source: WD 40 CO, 10-K, October 28, 2004

Exhibit 21
Subsidiaries of the Registrant
The Registrant has the following wholly-owned subsidiaries, which except as indicated, do business under their respective legal names:
Name

Place of Incorporation

WD-40 Manufacturing Company

California, USA

WD-40 Products (Canada) Ltd.

Ontario, Canada

WD-40 Holdings Limited

London, England

WD-40 Company Limited

London, England

WD-40 Company (Australia) Pty. Limited

New South Wales, Australia

HPD Holdings Corp.

Delaware, USA

HPD Laboratories, Inc.,
(doing business as Global Household Brands)

Delaware, USA

Heartland Corporation

Kansas, USA

Source: WD 40 CO, 10-K, October 28, 2004

Exhibit 23
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (File Nos. 333-117395, 333-64256, 333-41247, 33-90972 and
33-43174) of WD-40 Company of our report dated October 26, 2004 relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule, which
appear in this Form 10-K.
/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
San Diego, California
October 26, 2004

Source: WD 40 CO, 10-K, October 28, 2004

Exhibit 31(a)
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Garry O. Ridge, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of WD-40 Company;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this annual report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4.

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) for the Registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared; and

b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

c)

Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting;

Dated: October 27, 2004
/s/ GARRY O. RIDGE
Garry O. Ridge
President and CEO

Source: WD 40 CO, 10-K, October 28, 2004

Exhibit 31(b)
I, Michael J. Irwin, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of WD-40 Company;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this annual report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4.

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) for the Registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared; and

b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

c)

Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting;

Dated: October 27, 2004
/s/ MICHAEL J. IRWIN
Michael J. Irwin
Executive Vice President and CFO

Source: WD 40 CO, 10-K, October 28, 2004

Exhibit 32 (a)
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Garry O. Ridge, Chief Executive Officer of WD-40 Company (the “Company”), have reviewed the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for
the fiscal year ended August 31, 2004 (the “Report”). For purposes of Section 1350 of Title 18, United States Code, I certify that to the best of my knowledge:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: October 27, 2004
/s/ GARRY O. RIDGE
Garry O. Ridge
Chief Executive Officer

Source: WD 40 CO, 10-K, October 28, 2004

Exhibit 32 (b)
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Michael J. Irwin, Chief Financial Officer of WD-40 Company (the “Company”), have reviewed the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for
the fiscal year ended August 31, 2004 (the “Report”). For purposes of Section 1350 of Title 18, United States Code, I certify that to the best of my knowledge:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: October 27, 2004
/s/ MICHAEL J. IRWIN
Michael J. Irwin
Chief Financial Officer
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